
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

May 11, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Call to Order 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. UGA Announcement of Tybee Natural Infrastructure Master Plan:  FOR INFORMATION 
ONLY 

 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.  Limit reports to 10 
minutes. 

2. Kathleen Holliday, TIMA, Oyster Recycling Program on Tybee 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times of 5 
minutes. 

3. Pat Leiby and Sarah Jones:  Black History Trail  
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearings, 
please come forward.  Please limit comments to 3-5 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Public Hearings 
4. Site Plan Approval 1601 Butler Avenue, Add brick fence around property, Walt Freeman 

petitioner 
5. Site Plan Approval, 104 17th Street, Addition of three (3) Townhomes to Existing 

Property/Structure, Walt Freeman petitioner 
6. Site Plan Approval, 115 and 1109 East US Highway 80, Increase Parking via adjacent lot, 

Chris Smith, Zunzibar 
7. Site Plan Approval, 301 1st Street, Adding character statues in front of ice cream and 

golf cart/bicycle rental shop.  Liran Portal Petitioner 
8. First Reading, 2023-13, Text Amendment, Ability to apply for an STR permit for 

applicants holding a building permit at time of adoption of Moratorium 
9. First Reading 2023-14, Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants holding a 

building permit at the time of moratorium after public hearings 
10. First Reading, 2023-15A,  Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a 

building permit for new construction or extensive renovations at the time of adoption of 
the moratorium without public hearings 

11. First Reading, 2023-15B, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building 
permit for new construction at the time of the moratorium 

12. First Reading 2023-16, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own 
property or have a building permit with public hearing 

13. First Reading, 2023-17, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own 
property or have a building permit before moratorium without public hearings 

 
Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol License 

14. 2023-772 Resilience Plan Consultant - Recommend SLR International Corporation 
15. Agenda Request: Entertainment License: Mi Vida, 1315 Butler Ave, Unit B, Acoustic 

Guitar - No Amplifier 
16. Agenda Request: Tybee Market Enterprise- Alcohol License Request: Beer/Wine-Package 

Sales; Sunday Sales.  (Formerly Tybee Market Inc dba IGA).  
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

17. Budget Amendment:  Purchase additional safety and protective gear for all police officer 
and fire/ems personnel 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

18. Resolution, 2023-07, Public Safety Emergencies relating to Events 
19. Second Reading, 2023-09, Section 3-090. Elevator Requirements 
20. Second Reading:  2023-10, Sec 2-010, Change of Setback Definition to Allow for 

Elevators 
21. Second Reading:  2023-21, Sec 58-179, Fees 
22. Second Reading:  2023-22, GMEBS-R:  City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement 

Plan Amendment Ordinance with Adoption 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

23. Jay Burke, Performance/Status of City Manager 
 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

- Page 2 -

appIS88c9c59a69ba48e0932c976b93a8bf0d


 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

24. Planning Commission Minutes-4/17/2023 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 3 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

1. UGA Announcement of Tybee Natural Infrastructure Master Plan:  FOR INFORMATION 

ONLY

- Page 4 -Item #1.



- Page 5 -Item #1.



- Page 6 -Item #1.



- Page 7 -Item #1.



- Page 8 -Item #1.



- Page 9 -Item #1.



- Page 10 -Item #1.



- Page 11 -Item #1.



- Page 12 -Item #1.



- Page 13 -Item #1.



- Page 14 -Item #1.



- Page 15 -Item #1.



- Page 16 -Item #1.



- Page 17 -Item #1.



- Page 18 -Item #1.



- Page 19 -Item #1.



- Page 20 -Item #1.



- Page 21 -Item #1.



- Page 22 -Item #1.



- Page 23 -Item #1.



- Page 24 -Item #1.



- Page 25 -Item #1.



- Page 26 -Item #1.



- Page 27 -Item #1.



- Page 28 -Item #1.



- Page 29 -Item #1.



- Page 30 -Item #1.



- Page 31 -Item #1.



- Page 32 -Item #1.



- Page 33 -Item #1.



- Page 34 -Item #1.



- Page 35 -Item #1.



- Page 36 -Item #1.



- Page 37 -Item #1.



- Page 38 -Item #1.



- Page 39 -Item #1.



- Page 40 -Item #1.



- Page 41 -Item #1.



- Page 42 -Item #1.



- Page 43 -Item #1.



- Page 44 -Item #1.



- Page 45 -Item #1.



- Page 46 -Item #1.



- Page 47 -Item #1.



- Page 48 -Item #1.



- Page 49 -Item #1.



- Page 50 -Item #1.



- Page 51 -Item #1.



- Page 52 -Item #1.



- Page 53 -Item #1.



- Page 54 -Item #1.



- Page 55 -Item #1.



- Page 56 -Item #1.



- Page 57 -Item #1.



- Page 58 -Item #1.



- Page 59 -Item #1.



- Page 60 -Item #1.



- Page 61 -Item #1.



- Page 62 -Item #1.



- Page 63 -Item #1.



- Page 64 -Item #1.



- Page 65 -Item #1.



- Page 66 -Item #1.



- Page 67 -Item #1.



- Page 68 -Item #1.



- Page 69 -Item #1.



- Page 70 -Item #1.



- Page 71 -Item #1.



- Page 72 -Item #1.



- Page 73 -Item #1.



- Page 74 -Item #1.



- Page 75 -Item #1.



- Page 76 -Item #1.



- Page 77 -Item #1.



- Page 78 -Item #1.



- Page 79 -Item #1.



- Page 80 -Item #1.



- Page 81 -Item #1.



- Page 82 -Item #1.



- Page 83 -Item #1.



- Page 84 -Item #1.



- Page 85 -Item #1.



- Page 86 -Item #1.



- Page 87 -Item #1.



- Page 88 -Item #1.



- Page 89 -Item #1.



- Page 90 -Item #1.



- Page 91 -Item #1.



- Page 92 -Item #1.



- Page 93 -Item #1.



- Page 94 -Item #1.



- Page 95 -Item #1.



- Page 96 -Item #1.



- Page 97 -Item #1.



- Page 98 -Item #1.



- Page 99 -Item #1.



- Page 100 -Item #1.



- Page 101 -Item #1.



- Page 102 -Item #1.



- Page 103 -Item #1.



- Page 104 -Item #1.



- Page 105 -Item #1.



- Page 106 -Item #1.



- Page 107 -Item #1.



- Page 108 -Item #1.



- Page 109 -Item #1.



- Page 110 -Item #1.



- Page 111 -Item #1.



- Page 112 -Item #1.



- Page 113 -Item #1.



- Page 114 -Item #1.



- Page 115 -Item #1.



- Page 116 -Item #1.



- Page 117 -Item #1.



- Page 118 -Item #1.



- Page 119 -Item #1.



- Page 120 -Item #1.



- Page 121 -Item #1.



- Page 122 -Item #1.



- Page 123 -Item #1.



- Page 124 -Item #1.



- Page 125 -Item #1.



- Page 126 -Item #1.



- Page 127 -Item #1.



- Page 128 -Item #1.



- Page 129 -Item #1.



- Page 130 -Item #1.



- Page 131 -Item #1.



- Page 132 -Item #1.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Pat Leiby and Sarah Jones:  Black History Trail

- Page 133 -Item #3.



MAYOR  
Shirley Sessions 
 
CITY COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem 
John Branigin 
Jay Burke 
Nancy DeVetter 
Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks 
 

 
CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
 
 
 

CITY MANAGER 
Shawn Gillen 
 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 
Janet LeViner 
 
CITY ATTORNEY 
Edward M. Hughes 
 

 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 
(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 

City Council Agenda Item Request  

 
Agenda Item Requests and supporting documentation must be submitted to the Clerk of Council by 
4:00PM on the Thursday prior to the next scheduled Council meeting.  If this form is received after the 
deadline, the item will be listed on the next scheduled agenda.  
  

Council Meeting Date for Request:   5/11/2023 

 

Item:  Official introduction of the Tybee Island Black History Trail 

Explanation: Pat Leiby, Tybee MLK Human Rights Organization and Sarah Jones, Tybee Island Historical 

Society will announce Trail and Ribbon Cutting. 

 
Paper Work:      Attached*   

            ______ Audio/Video Presentation**  
 

*          Electronic submissions are requested by not required.  Please email to 
jleviner@cityoftybee.org. 

  ** Audio/video presentations must be submitted to the IT department at City Hall  
by 4:00PM on the Thursday prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 
NOTE:  Request will be postponed if necessary information is not provided. 

 
Submitted by:  Pat Leiby, Tybee MLK Human Rights Organization 

 ______________________________________________  

Phone / Email:  301.305.6502; pat@southmountaintitle.com  

 ___________________________________________ 

Comments: _________________________________________________________________________     
 

Date given to Clerk of Council:       4/25/2023 

- Page 134 -Item #3.

mailto:jleviner@cityoftybee.org


File Attachments for Item:

4. Site Plan Approval 1601 Butler Avenue, Add brick fence around property, Walt Freeman 

petitioner

- Page 135 -Item #4.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Applicant wants to change use from restaurant to office/restaurant and add
decorative wall around front of property

Vote on site plan

4.SITE PLAN-1601 BUTLER AVE.pdf

- Page 136 -Item #4.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927447/4.SITE_PLAN-1601_BUTLER_AVE.pdf


- Page 137 -Item #4.



- Page 138 -Item #4.



- Page 139 -Item #4.



- Page 140 -Item #4.



- Page 141 -Item #4.



- Page 142 -Item #4.



- Page 143 -Item #4.



- Page 144 -Item #4.



- Page 145 -Item #4.



- Page 146 -Item #4.



- Page 147 -Item #4.



- Page 148 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Site Plan Approval, 104 17th Street, Addition of three (3) Townhomes to Existing 

Property/Structure, Walt Freeman petitioner

- Page 149 -Item #5.



- Page 150 -Item #5.



- Page 151 -Item #5.



- Page 152 -Item #5.



- Page 153 -Item #5.



- Page 154 -Item #5.



- Page 155 -Item #5.



- Page 156 -Item #5.



- Page 157 -Item #5.



- Page 158 -Item #5.



- Page 159 -Item #5.



- Page 160 -Item #5.



- Page 161 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Site Plan Approval, 115 and 1109 East US Highway 80, Increase Parking via adjacent lot, 

Chris Smith, Zunzibar

- Page 162 -Item #6.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Applicant requests site plan approval to include adjoining lot

Vote on site plan

2.SITE PLAN-1115&1109 E HWY 80.pdf

- Page 163 -Item #6.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927371/2.SITE_PLAN-1115_1109_E_HWY_80.pdf


- Page 164 -Item #6.



- Page 165 -Item #6.



- Page 166 -Item #6.



- Page 167 -Item #6.



- Page 168 -Item #6.



- Page 169 -Item #6.



- Page 170 -Item #6.



- Page 171 -Item #6.



- Page 172 -Item #6.



- Page 173 -Item #6.



- Page 174 -Item #6.



- Page 175 -Item #6.



- Page 176 -Item #6.



- Page 177 -Item #6.



- Page 178 -Item #6.



- Page 179 -Item #6.



- Page 180 -Item #6.



- Page 181 -Item #6.



- Page 182 -Item #6.



- Page 183 -Item #6.



- Page 184 -Item #6.



- Page 185 -Item #6.



- Page 186 -Item #6.



- Page 187 -Item #6.



- Page 188 -Item #6.



- Page 189 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Site Plan Approval, 301 1st Street, Adding character statues in front of ice cream and golf 

cart/bicycle rental shop.  Liran Portal Petitioner

- Page 190 -Item #7.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Applicant wishes to add large sculptures to site plan

Vote on site plan

1.SITE PLAN-301 FIRST ST.pdf

- Page 191 -Item #7.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927359/1.SITE_PLAN-301_FIRST_ST.pdf


- Page 192 -Item #7.



- Page 193 -Item #7.



- Page 194 -Item #7.



- Page 195 -Item #7.



- Page 196 -Item #7.



- Page 197 -Item #7.



- Page 198 -Item #7.



- Page 199 -Item #7.



- Page 200 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. First Reading, 2023-13, Text Amendment, Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants 

holding a building permit at time of adoption of Moratorium

- Page 201 -Item #8.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit at time
of adoption of moratorium

Vote on text amendment

5.TEXT AMEND-#13.pdf

- Page 202 -Item #8.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927579/5.TEXT_AMEND-_13.pdf


- Page 203 -Item #8.



- Page 204 -Item #8.



- Page 205 -Item #8.



- Page 206 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. First Reading 2023-14, Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants holding a building 

permit at the time of moratorium after public hearings

- Page 207 -Item #9.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit at the
time of moratorium after public hearings

Vote on text amendment

6.TEXT AMEND-#14.pdf

- Page 208 -Item #9.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927694/6.TEXT_AMEND-_14.pdf


- Page 209 -Item #9.



- Page 210 -Item #9.



- Page 211 -Item #9.



- Page 212 -Item #9.



- Page 213 -Item #9.



- Page 214 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. First Reading, 2023-15A,  Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building 

permit for new construction or extensive renovations at the time of adoption of the moratorium 

without public hearings

- Page 215 -Item #10.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit for new
construction or extensive renovations at the time of adoption of the moratorium
without public hearings

Vote on amendment

7.TEXT AMEND-#15A.pdf

- Page 216 -Item #10.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927762/7.TEXT_AMEND-_15A.pdf


- Page 217 -Item #10.



- Page 218 -Item #10.



- Page 219 -Item #10.



- Page 220 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. First Reading, 2023-15B, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building 

permit for new construction at the time of the moratorium

- Page 221 -Item #11.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit for new
construction at the time of the moratorium

Vote on amendment

8.TEXT AMEND-#15B.pdf

- Page 222 -Item #11.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927773/8.TEXT_AMEND-_15B.pdf


- Page 223 -Item #11.



- Page 224 -Item #11.



- Page 225 -Item #11.



- Page 226 -Item #11.



- Page 227 -Item #11.



- Page 228 -Item #11.



- Page 229 -Item #11.



- Page 230 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12. First Reading 2023-16, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own 

property or have a building permit with public hearing

- Page 231 -Item #12.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own property or have a
building permit with public hearing

Vote on amendment

9.TEXT AMEND-#16.pdf

- Page 232 -Item #12.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927798/9.TEXT_AMEND-_16.pdf


- Page 233 -Item #12.



- Page 234 -Item #12.



- Page 235 -Item #12.



- Page 236 -Item #12.



- Page 237 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

13. First Reading, 2023-17, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own 

property or have a building permit before moratorium without public hearings

- Page 238 -Item #13.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own property or have a
building permit before moratorium without public hearings

Vote on amendment

10.TEXT AMEND-#17.pdf

- Page 239 -Item #13.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1927820/10.TEXT_AMEND-_17.pdf


- Page 240 -Item #13.



- Page 241 -Item #13.



- Page 242 -Item #13.



- Page 243 -Item #13.



File Attachments for Item:

14. 2023-772 Resilience Plan Consultant - Recommend SLR International Corporation

- Page 244 -Item #14.



2023-772

Resilience Plan Consultant GMC Notes

Criteria
Possible 

Points

Demonstration of experience with resiliency planning 25 20
Experience reflected in references and noted projects but not reflected 

in project plan, specific deliverables, or timetable.

Demonstration of experience with plan review and development 25 20 Experience not reflected in specific plan, deliverables, or timetable

Demonstration of experience with community outreach and 

education
20 15 Experience not reflected in specific plan, deliverables, or timetable

Quality of, and response from, references 15 15 No comment

Cost of Services 15 15
Amount of bid suggests didn't understand scope or timing of 

deliverable. Not confident they could do it for this fee.

TOTAL 85

- Page 245 -Item #14.



SLR Notes

25
Experience demonstrated in very specific deliverables and clear 

timetable

25
Experience demonstrated in very specific deliverables and clear 

timetable

20
Experience demonstrated in very specific deliverables and clear 

timetable, as well as evidence of Local, County, and State experience.

15 No comment

10
Fee seems reasonable for the project deliverables and timing. Fee is 

within budget

95

- Page 246 -Item #14.



File Attachments for Item:

15. Agenda Request: Entertainment License: Mi Vida

1315 Butler Ave, Unit B

Acoustic Guitar - No Amplifier

- Page 247 -Item #15.



- Page 248 -Item #15.



- Page 249 -Item #15.



File Attachments for Item:

16. Tybee Market Enterprise (Formerly Tybee Market Inc dba IGA)

1111 Butler Ave

Agenda Request: Alcohol License: Beer/Wine Package Sales-Sunday Sales

- Page 250 -Item #16.



- Page 251 -Item #16.



- Page 252 -Item #16.



- Page 253 -Item #16.



- Page 254 -Item #16.



File Attachments for Item:

17. Budget Amendment:  Purchase additional safety and protective gear for all police officer and

fire/ems personnel

- Page 255 -Item #17.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: May 11
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

As a result of recent activity on the Island, Public Safety are requesting funding to
purchase additional safety and protective gear for all police officers and fire/ems
personnel.

Approve Budget Amendment

PS Budget Amendment.pdf

- Page 256 -Item #17.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1934693/PS_Budget_Amendment.pdf


- Page 257 -Item #17.



File Attachments for Item:

18. Resolution, 2023-07, Public Safety Emergencies relating to Events

- Page 258 -Item #18.



 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_07________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA TO 

ENCOURAGE THE PARTICIPATION AND COOPERATION OF 

ELECTED OFFICIALS, INCLUDING REPRESENTATIVES OF CHATHAM 

COUNTY, THE GEORGIA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, GEORGIA 

STATE SENATORS, UNITED STATES REPRESENTATIVES, AND 

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICIALS OF EACH GOVERNMENT AGENCY TO 

COOPERATE WITH THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND  IN CONNECTION 

WITH PUBLIC SAFETY EMERGENCIES RELATING TO EVENTS 

WHICH OVERWHELM THE CAPACITY OF THE CITY AND/OR THE 

CONNECTING HIGHWAY 80, THE SOLE MOTOR VEHICLE ROUTE 

WITH ACCESS TO AND FROM THE CITY 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island (City) is a small island community 

consisting of a barrier island with the year-round population of under 3,500 people; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City includes a public beach of approximately three miles in 

length which is available to the public for recreational purposes subject to certain 

reasonable restrictions; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has under 3,000 public parking places available on the 

island within the City; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City and therefore the beach is only accessible for motor 

vehicles by U.S. Highway 80, which has less than four travel lanes for traffic over its 

access bridges and over causeways many miles long; and   

 

 WHEREAS, emergency vehicles are restricted and/or unable to reach or leave 

the City in times of heavy traffic associated with certain events; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has been the site of unpermitted events over many years, 

which on many occasions have resulted in significant risk to public safety by 

generating gun fire, injuries, at least one fatality, a recent shooting victim, physical 

assaults, property damage and utter disregard of all rules and ordinances of the City 

and laws of the state of Georgia; and 

 

- Page 259 -Item #18.



 WHEREAS, the City has a small force of police officers and first responders 

available for public emergencies and has frequently had to seek the assistance of other 

agencies with respect to efforts to maintain crowd and traffic control and to reduce the 

risk to the public and event participants; and 

 

 WHEREAS, unpermitted events have significantly burdened City resources 

with regard to unlawful behavior, including open use of illegal substances requiring 

immediate administration of overdose reversing drugs, gun fire, unlawful traffic 

activities, including reckless driving, speeding, unlawful disruptive parking, drag 

racing, litter and trash, and intentional damages to City and private property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has cooperated with the United States Department of 

Justice in response to Concerned Citizens’ complaints of alleged inappropriate City 

handling of certain unpermitted events on claimed discriminatory grounds, which the 

City has always denied; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City is in need of the expansion of emergency powers and 

enforcement opportunities to invoke protections in the event a local declaration of 

emergency is authorized and adopted so as to recruit additional law and other 

enforcement agencies to protect the citizens, public and private property, police 

officers, group participants, first responders and others; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a recent unpermitted event resulted in an excess of 40,000  to 

50,000 participants/attendees overwhelmed Highway 80 and overburdened traffic 

controls and disrupted traffic into multiple areas within Chatham County creating 

public safety hazards and traffic jams in a large part of unincorporated Chatham 

County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, law enforcement agencies have been and continue to be 

understaffed as a result of matters beyond their control, including the decline in interest 

in law enforcement positions, thus further increasing the risk for participants in the 

events, citizens of Chatham County and citizens of Tybee Island, as well as that of the 

safety of the officers and agents that are available; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a regional approach amongst all impacted agencies is necessary in 

planning for events in advance of a potential occurrence so as to ensure that all  

impacted are protected to the fullest extent possible; and 

 

- Page 260 -Item #18.



 WHEREAS, the City needs legislative assistance in order to increase the 

potential penalties for ordinance violations during such events as existing limitations 

are inadequate to provide deterrence; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the 

City of Tybee Island duly assembled that the City Attorney, City Manager, Assistant 

City Manager, Police Chief, Mayor and all designees thereof are authorized and 

encouraged to communicate with other local, state, and federal elected and appointed 

officials in order to develop available methods, including, but not limited to, the 

adoption of laws and/or regulations authorizing additional powers and expanded 

penalties where necessary and the recruitment of qualified personnel to ensure the 

presence of adequate planning, reaction, and authorization to respond to potential, 

threatened, current, emergency threats to public safety and to take steps in response 

thereto in order to protect individuals, participants, and property with regard to such 

events; and 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the appropriate federal, elected, and 

administrative officials, as well as those at the state and local levels are respectfully 

requested to work with elected officials, staff, and representatives of the City of Tybee 

Island, including, but not limited to, management, the City Attorney or their designees 

with regard to actions that may be taken to adopt appropriate changes in state laws 

and/or local ordinances or regulations in order to preserve and protect the citizens 

impacted, their property, as well as participants in events, specifically to work together 

to achieve any legal modifications necessary to make emergency actions appropriate 

for public safety purposes to include potential closing of Highway 80 or restricting 

access to Highway 80 in certain areas in order to prevent the overburdening of county 

and city resources and infrastructure and to protect the citizens of every impacted 

community and city within Chatham County and beyond. 

 
  

 SO RESOLVED, this ____ day of _________________________, 2023. 

 

 

ATTEST:     CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 

 

       

By:____________________________ By: _______________________________ 

 Jan LeViner, MMC    Shirley Sessions, Mayor 

 Clerk of Council 
 

 

Resolution - Cooperation During Events Causing Overwhelming Emergency Situations  5-4-2023 

- Page 261 -Item #18.



File Attachments for Item:

19. Second Reading, 2023-09, Section 3-090. Elevator Requirements

- Page 262 -Item #19.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-9 

ENTITLED: 

ELEVATOR SETBACK EXCEPTIONS AND 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO AMEND SECTION 3-090 TO 

ADD A SUBSECTION 3 ON THE SCHEDULE OF DEVELOPMENT 

REGULATIONS  

 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, (the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and 

improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police and home rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the hardship requirement is not well-suited to the circumstances 

for a variance in instances where hardships may exist to occupants of a residence 

where access is needed but difficult to obtain to higher floors; and 

 

WHEREAS, an exemption is appropriate to remove elevator shafts from the 

setback requirements in residential construction to the extent necessary to 

accommodate standard elevator properties; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the 

City of Tybee Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended as follows: 

 

SECTION 1 

 

Section 3-090, Section 3: 

 

An encroachment to permit one elevator is permissible on an existing elevated 

home to accommodate an elevator into a side or rear setback but only to the extent 

necessary to accommodate the elevator and the appropriate shaft and the 

encroachment shall be no larger than 6 feet x 6 feet within the setback and no 

component or part shall protrude more than 6 feet into the setback upon approval of 

the building official.   

  - Page 263 -Item #19.



 

 

SECTION 2 

 

If any section, subsection, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall be held to 

be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall 

not affect any other section, subsection, clause, provision or portion of this ordinance 

which is not invalid or unconstitutional.  Where the provisions of this ordinance are in 

conflict with other ordinances, the most restrictive provision shall be enforced. 

 

SECTION 3 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed.   

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

SECTION 5 

  

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2023. 

 
ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 2023. 

 

 

_________________________________ 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

ENACTED:     

 
 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 – 2023-9  Section 3-909 Elevator Requirements 4-18-2023 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 – Section 3-090 Elevator Requirements 3-9-2023 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 – Section 3-090 Elevator Requirements 2-1-2023 
- Page 264 -Item #19.



File Attachments for Item:

20. Second Reading:  2023-10, Sec 2-010, Change of Setback Definition to Allow for Elevators

- Page 265 -Item #20.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-10 

ENTITLED: 

SETBACK DEFINITION 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO AMEND THE DEFINITION 

OF “SETBACK” IN ORDER TO EXEMPT FROM SETBACK 

REQUIREMENTS THE INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF 

ELEVATORS FOR ACCESS TO PORTIONS OF A RESIDENTIAL 

PROPERTY 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, (the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and 

improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police and home rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the hardship requirement is not well-suited to the circumstances 

for a variance in instances where hardships may exist to occupants of a residence 

where access is needed but difficult to obtain to higher floors; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in the Land Development Code, Article 2, Definitions, Section 

2-010, the section concerning the definition of “Setback” should be revised to correct 

a typographical error, which has apparently developed over various printings; and 

 

 WHEREAS, an exemption is appropriate to remove elevator and shafts from 

the setback requirements in residential construction upon approval of the building 

official to the extent necessary to accommodate standard elevator construction; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the 

City of Tybee Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended so as revise the 

definition of “Setback” as follows: 

 

 

 

- Page 266 -Item #20.



 

SECTION 1 

 

Land Development Code, Article 2, Definitions, Section 2-010: 

Setback means the minimum horizontal distance between the front, rear, or 

side lot lines and the existing or proposed edges of the structure.  The term “required 

setback” means a line beyond which a building is not permitted to extend under the 

provisions set forth in this Land Development Code establishing minimum depth 

and width of yards.  Eaves not exceeding 24 inches are exempt from setback 

requirements.  Eaves in excess of 24 inches are not exempt from setback 

requirements to the extent they exceed 24 inches.  On existing structures, one 

elevator facility and elevator shaft is exempt from side and/or rear yard setback 

requirements upon approval of the building official, but only to the extent necessary 

in order to accommodate the installation and maintenance of an elevator and the 

appropriate shaft and the encroachment shall be no larger than 6 feet x 6 feet within 

the setback and no component or part shall protrude more than 6 feet into the setback.  

See, Section 3-090(3). 

 

SECTION 2 

 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid 

or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in 

no way effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby 

declared as the intent of the City of Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance 

would have been adopted had such invalid or unconstitutional portion not been 

included herein. 

 

SECTION 3 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed.   

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

  

- Page 267 -Item #20.



 
 

SECTION 5 

  

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2023. 

 
ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 2023. 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

ENACTED:     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 - 2023-10   Setback – Elevator Requirements 4-18-2023 
572-1 Ordinances 2023 – Setback – Elevator Requirements 3-9-2023 

572-1 Ordinances 2023 - Setback – Elevator Requirements 2-1-2023 

- Page 268 -Item #20.



File Attachments for Item:

21. Second Reading:  2023-21, Sec 58-179, Fees

- Page 269 -Item #21.



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
TYBEE ISLAND SO AS TO UPDATE THE DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN SERVICES 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF _________AND TO ESTABLISH AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the 

State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinance to protect and improve the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its police 

and home rule powers; and 

 WHEREAS, it is desirable to update the description for certain vendors providing 

massage therapy services to reflect the title now commonly used for such providers. 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of 

Tybee Island duly assembled as follows: 

SECTION I 

 Existing Tybee Code Section 58-179 is amended as follows: 

Any business of the type listed below operating within the city shall pay a regulatory fee, even if such 
business has paid a business tax in Savannah, Tybee Island or another jurisdiction, and regulatory fees as defined in 
section 58-154(b) are established for those businesses operating within the corporate limits of the city, according 
to the following schedules:  

Alcoholic Beverages For 2022 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$730.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $760.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,130.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,600.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

- Page 270 -Item #21.



 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2023 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,110.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $945.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,410.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,950.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2024 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,490.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,130.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,690.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $2,300.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

- Page 271 -Item #21.



 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2025 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$1,870.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,315.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $1,970.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $2,650.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Alcoholic Beverages For 2026 

SIC  License Classification  Fee  

5813  Retail beer/wine - sale by package only; consumption on premises 
prohibited  

$2,250.00  

5839  Retail beer/wine - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $1,500.00  

5815  Retail liquor - sale by package only; consumption on premises prohibited  $2,250.00  

5816  Retail liquor - sale by drink for consumption on premises only  $3,000.00  

5818  Retail liquor - sale by package and drink both in one building under one 
ownership  

$2,000.00  

5881  Wholesale beer  $765.00  

5183  Wholesale liquor  $1,500.00  

5182  Wholesale wine  $150.00  

2080  Distiller, brewer, or manufacturer of alcoholic beverages  $300.00  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor; special event - beer, wine, liquor 
(establishments not holding current license)  

$50.00  
per day;  
$100.00,  
three-day  

 Special event - beer, wine, liquor (establishments holding current license)  $10.00  
per event  

 Sunday sales for package only, in addition to all other regulatory fees and 
taxes  

$50.00  

- Page 272 -Item #21.



 Sunday sales - sale by drink for consumption on premises, in addition to 
all other regulatory fees and taxes  

$150.00  

 

Miscellaneous  

 

License Classification  Fee  

Advertising, off-premises (billboards) TIC Sec. 8-4-24:   

—32 square feet (4'×8')  $50.00  

—128 square feet (8'×16')  $75.00  

—192 square feet (12'×16')  $100.00  

—288 square feet (12'×24')  $125.00  

Amusements, itinerant (circus, carnival) TIC 7-1-1/7-1-4  $75.00 per day;  
$600.00 maximum  

Beach equipment, beach vehicle, and watercraft rental, per site TIC 9-3-30/9-3-36  $300.00  

Book and magazine canvasser; registration fee  $45.00  

Building and construction contractors, subcontractors and tradesmen, licensed in 
another jurisdiction; registration fee  

$20.00  

Escort  $500.00  

Live entertainment  $50.00  

  Massage Therapist $250.00  

Private parking lots   

Residentially zoned  1.00  

Commercial  $200.00  

Promoter—special events, pageants, festivals, exhibitions, sporting events, shows, 
etc.  

 

—Per single event TIC 7-1-1/-4  $50.00  

—Transient merchant TIC 9-1-20  $75.00 per day  

Short term vacation rentals  $100.00 per STVR unit as 
provided in section 34-
256 et seq.  

Transient rentals; registration fee  $45.00  

Vendor, festival hawker  $25.00 per day  

Vendor, arts and crafts  $25.00 per event  

 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, a business that is already licensed and paying an 
occupation tax to Tybee shall not have to pay a regulatory fee in connection with vending activities as long as such 
activities are limited to the same line of product or service covered by the occupational tax paid.  

SECTION II 

All ordinance and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION III 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of 

Ordinance, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be 

renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

- Page 273 -Item #21.



4857-2998-9470.1 

 This Ordinance shall become effective on ____ day of _____, 2023. 

 

 ADOPTED THIS _____ DAY OF ______ 2023. 

 

       _____________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
FIRST READING:  __________ 
 
SECOND READING: __________ 
 
ENACTED:   __________  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 274 -Item #21.



File Attachments for Item:

22. Second Reading:  2023-22, GMEBS-R:  City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement Plan

Amendment Ordinance with Adoption

- Page 275 -Item #22.



RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SERVICES 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Chairman 
W. D. Palmer, III 
Councilmember, Camilla 
 
Vice Chairman 
Rebecca L. Tydings 
City Attorney, Centerville 
 
Secretary-Treasurer 
Larry H. Hanson 
Executive Director 

Trustees: 

Shelly Berryhill 
Councilmember, Hawkinsville 

Linda Blechinger 
Mayor, Auburn 
 
Ronald Feldner 
City Manager, Garden City 
 
Marcia Hampton 
City Manager, 
Douglasville 
 
Meg Kelsey 
City Manager, LaGrange 
 
Sam Norton 
Mayor, Dahlonega 
 
David Nunn 
City Manager, Madison 
 
James F. Palmer 
Mayor, Calhoun 
 
John Reid 
Mayor, Eatonton 
 
Kenneth L. Usry 
Mayor, Thomson 
 
Clemontine Washington 
Mayor Pro Tem, Midway 
 
Donna Whitener 

   
Vince Williams 
Mayor, Union City 

The Burgess Building • 201 Pryor Street, SW • Atlanta, GA 30303-3606 • Tel 404.688.0472 • Toll Free 1.888.488.4462 • Website www.gacities.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

April 19, 2023 
 
TRANSMITTED VIA E-MAIL 
(jaime.spear@cityoftybee.org) 
 
Ms. Jaime Spear 
Human Resources Administrator  
City of Tybee Island  
P.O. Box 2749 
Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749  
 
RE: City of Tybee Island GMEBS Defined Benefit Retirement Plan; Amendment to 

Increase Benefit for Elected Officials and Change Vesting Requirement 
 
Dear Ms. Spear: 
 
Per the City’s request, enclosed please find a draft amended Adoption Agreement and a draft 
amended General Addendum for the City of Tybee Island’s Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit 
System (“GMEBS”) Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (“Plan”). The amendment to the Plan 
increases the monthly benefit for elected officials to $25 a month per year of service as an elected 
official (see Adoption Agreement, p. 24) and changes the vesting requirement from 10-year 
graduated vesting to a 5-year cliff vesting schedule for employees who terminate on or after May 
11, 2023 (see Adoption Agreement, p. 29).  
 
The Adoption Agreement provides that the amendment will become effective on May 11, 2023. 
Please note that per O.C.G.A. § 47-5-40, the Adoption Agreement has been drafted in the 
form of an ordinance.  
 
If the draft Adoption Agreement and General Addendum are acceptable as drafted, please have 
the designated representatives execute, sign and date each document where indicated. Once the 
documents are executed, please scan and email each document to Gina Gresham at 
rgresham@gacities.com. We will then countersign the documents and return an electronic copy to 
you. Please note that GMEBS will not execute plan documents that have been edited by the city. 
If the documents require revisions, please let us know before adopting them. 
 
If you have any questions about the information provided in this letter or require further 
information, please feel free to contact me at (678) 686-6236 or kjeselnik@gacities.com. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Kevin H. Jeselnik  
Assistant General Counsel 

 
Encl.  
 
C: Mr. Edward Hughes, City Attorney, City of Tybee Island (w/ encl.)  
 Ms. Marinetty Bienvenu, Director, Employee Benefit Services (w/o encl.)  
 Ms. Michelle Warner, Director, Retirement Field Services and DC Program (w/o encl.)  
      Ms. Gwin Hall, Senior Associate General Counsel (w/o encl.)  

- Page 276 -Item #22.

http://www.gacities.com/
mailto:jaime.spear@cityoftybee.org
mailto:rgresham@gacities.com
mailto:cdorsey@gacities.com


City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

GENERAL ADDENDUM TO THE 
GEORGIA MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES BENEFIT SYSTEM 

DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

This is an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement completed by the City 
of Tybee Island, Georgia as follows (complete one or more sections, as 
applicable): 

*** Items (1) through (11) of General Addendum – Not Applicable *** 

(12) Minimum and Maximum Limits on Normal Retirement Benefit Amount 
for Regular Employees.  

Check one or more as applicable: 

 (a) The minimum monthly normal retirement benefit amount shall 
be:   $________,  _____% of the Participant's Final Average 
Earnings (specify minimum monthly amount or percentage). 

The minimum benefit amount elected above shall apply to (check 
one): 

  All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
  Only the following Participants (must specify) 
 _______________________________________________________. 

 (b) The maximum monthly normal retirement benefit amount shall 
be:   $_______,  100% (specify maximum monthly amount or 
percentage) of:   the highest monthly earnings used to calculate 
the Participant's Final Average Earnings,  the Participant's Final 
Average Earnings. This maximum benefit limit shall apply in 
addition to and not in lieu of any applicable limits under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 415.  

The maximum benefit amount elected above shall apply to (check 
one): 

  All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
  Only the following Participants (must specify) 

_______________________________________________________. 
 

- Page 277 -Item #22.



– 2 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Note: The minimum or maximum limit elected above shall apply to the 
standard form of payment.  If the Participant elects a different 
form of benefit payment, the limit shall be actuarially adjusted 
based on the form of benefit payment elected. 

*** Items (13) through (16) of General Addendum – Not Applicable *** 
 

The terms of the foregoing Addendum to the Adoption Agreement are 
approved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia this 
________ day of _____________, 20____. 

 

Attest:      CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 
 
_________________________  ____________________________________ 
City Clerk        Mayor  
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
Approved: 
 
__________________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 The terms of the foregoing Addendum are approved by the Board of 
Trustees of the Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Trustees of the Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System has caused its Seal and the signatures of 
its duly authorized officers to be affixed this ______ day of 
__________________________, 20____. 

 
 Board of Trustees 
 Georgia Municipal Employees 
 Benefit System 
(SEAL) 
 
      ____________________________________ 
   Secretary 

- Page 278 -Item #22.



City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES 
BENEFIT SYSTEM 

 
 

 
DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 

 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE 

and 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

for 
 

City of Tybee Island 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Form Volume Submitter Adoption Agreement 
 Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2013 
 (With Amendments Taking Effect on or Before January 1, 2017) 

- Page 279 -Item #22.



 

 – i – 
 
City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

PAGE 

I.  AN ORDINANCE .......................................................................................................................1 

II.  GMEBS DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT ...............................................................................................2 
1. ADMINISTRATOR ................................................................................................2 
2. ADOPTING EMPLOYER.......................................................................................2 
3. GOVERNING AUTHORITY .................................................................................2 
4. PLAN REPRESENTATIVE ....................................................................................2 
5. PENSION COMMITTEE ........................................................................................3 
6. TYPE OF ADOPTION ............................................................................................3 
7. EFFECTIVE DATE .................................................................................................4 
8. PLAN YEAR ...........................................................................................................5 
9. CLASSES OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES ...............................................................5 

A. Eligible Regular Employees ........................................................................5 
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority ......................5 

10. ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS .................................................................................6 
A. Hours Per Week (Regular Employees) ........................................................6 
B. Months Per Year (Regular Employees) .......................................................7 

11. WAITING PERIOD.................................................................................................7 
12. ESTABLISHING PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN ............................................8 
13. CREDITED SERVICE ............................................................................................8 

A. Credited Past Service with Adopting Employer ..........................................8 
B. Prior Military Service ................................................................................10 
C. Prior Governmental Service .......................................................................11 
D. Leave Conversion for Unused Paid Time Off (e.g., Sick, 

Vacation, or Personal Leave) .....................................................................13 
14. RETIREMENT ELIGIBILITY ..............................................................................14 

A. Early Retirement Qualifications ................................................................14 
B. Normal Retirement Qualifications .............................................................15 
C. Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications ..........................................17 
D. Disability Benefit Qualifications ...............................................................21 

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMPUTATION .......................................................21 
A. Maximum Total Credited Service ..............................................................21 
B. Monthly Normal Retirement Benefit Amount ...........................................22 
C. Monthly Early Retirement Benefit Amount ..............................................24 
D. Monthly Late Retirement Benefit Amount (check one): ...........................25 
E. Monthly Disability Benefit Amount ..........................................................25 
F. Minimum/Maximum Benefit For Elected Officials ..................................26 

16. SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS FOLLOWING BONA FIDE 
SEPARATION OF SERVICE; COLA ..................................................................27 

- Page 280 -Item #22.



 

 – ii – 
 
City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

A. Re-Employment as Eligible Employee After Normal, 
Alternative Normal, or Early Retirement and Following 
Bona Fide Separation of Service (see Master Plan Section 
6.06(c) Regarding Re-Employment as an Ineligible 
Employee and Master Plan Section 6.06(e) and (f) 
Regarding Re-Employment After Disability Retirement) .........................27 

B. Cost Of Living Adjustment ........................................................................28 
17. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BEFORE RETIREMENT; 

VESTING ..............................................................................................................29 
A. Eligible Regular Employees ......................................................................29 
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority ....................29 

18. PRE-RETIREMENT DEATH BENEFITS ...........................................................30 
A. In-Service Death Benefit............................................................................30 
B. Terminated Vested Death Benefit ..............................................................32 

19. EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS .........................................................................32 
20. MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION 

AGREEMENT .......................................................................................................33 
21. TERMINATION OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT ......................................34 
22. EMPLOYER ADOPTION AND AUTHORIZATION FOR 

AMENDMENTS ...................................................................................................34 
 

- Page 281 -Item #22.



 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

I.  AN ORDINANCE 

An Ordinance to amend and restate the Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of 
Tybee Island, Georgia in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the 
attached Adoption Agreement, any Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Georgia Municipal 
Employees Benefit System (GMEBS) Master Plan Document, and the GMEBS Trust Agreement.  
When accepted by the authorized officers of the City and GMEBS, the foregoing shall constitute 
a Contract between the City and GMEBS, all as authorized and provided by O.C.G.A. § 47-5-1 et 
seq. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and it 
is hereby ordained by the authority thereof: 

Section 1.  The Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia is 
hereby amended and restated as set forth in and subject to the terms and conditions stated in the 
following Adoption Agreement, any Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System (GMEBS) Master Plan Document, and the GMEBS Trust 
Agreement. 

 
 
 

Ordinance continued on page 37 
  

- Page 282 -Item #22.



 

– 2 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

II.  GMEBS DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLAN 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

1.  ADMINISTRATOR 

Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System 
201 Pryor Street, SW 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
Telephone:  404-688-0472 
Facsimile:  404-577-6663 

 
2.  ADOPTING EMPLOYER 

Name: City of Tybee Island, Georgia 

3.  GOVERNING AUTHORITY 

Name: Mayor and Council 
Address: P.O. Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328-2749 
Phone: (912) 472-5080 
Facsimile: (912) 786-5737 
 
 

4.  PLAN REPRESENTATIVE 

[To represent Governing Authority in all communications with GMEBS and Employees] 
(See Section 2.49 of Master Plan)  

 
 
Name: City Manager 
Address: P.O. Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328-2749 
Phone: (912) 472-5080 
Facsimile: (912) 786-5737 
 

 

- Page 283 -Item #22.



 

– 3 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

5.  PENSION COMMITTEE 

[Please designate members by position.  If not, members of Pension Committee shall be 
determined in accordance with Article XIV of Master Plan] 

 
Position: Clerk of Council (City Clerk)  
Position: City Manager  
Position: Finance Officer of the City  
Position: One (1) active City Employee appointed by the Mayor and Council 
Position: One (1) active City Employee appointed by the Mayor and Council  
Position: One (1) member of the Mayor and Council designated by the Mayor and Council  
 
In the event the title of a position on the Pension Committee should change, an amendment 
to the Adoption Agreement shall not be necessary; rather, such position shall be held and 
filled by the individual with the most similar job description. 
 
Pension Committee Secretary: Human Resources Administrator  
Address: P.O. Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328-2749 
Phone: (912) 472-5029 
Facsimile: (912) 786-5737 
 

6.  TYPE OF ADOPTION 

This Adoption Agreement is for the following purpose (check one): 

 This is a new defined benefit plan adopted by the Adopting Employer for its Employees.  
This plan does not replace or restate an existing defined benefit plan. 

 This is an amendment and restatement of the Adopting Employer's preexisting 
non-GMEBS defined benefit plan. 

 This is an amendment and restatement of the Adoption Agreement previously adopted by 
the Employer, as follows (check one or more as applicable): 

 To update the Plan to comply with PPA, HEART, WRERA, and other applicable 
federal laws and guidance. 

 To make the following amendments to the Adoption Agreement (must specify 
below revisions made in this Adoption Agreement; all provisions must be 
completed in a manner that satisfies the definite written program requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): This is an amendment 
to: 1) increase the monthly Normal Retirement benefit for elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority in such positions on or after May 11, 
2023, to $25.00 a month per year of Service as an elected or appointed  member 
of the Governing Authority (see Adoption Agreement, p. 24); and 2) reduce 
the Vesting requirement from 10-year graduated Vesting to 5-year cliff 

- Page 284 -Item #22.



 

– 4 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Vesting for Eligible Regular Employees who Terminate on or after May 11, 
2023 (see Adoption Agreement, p. 29). 

7.  EFFECTIVE DATE 

NOTE:  This Adoption Agreement and any Addendum, with the accompanying Master Plan 
Document, is designed to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a), as applicable to a 
governmental qualified defined benefit plan, and is part of the GMEBS Defined Benefit 
Retirement Plan.  Plan provisions designed to comply with certain provisions of the Pension 
Protection Act of 2006 ("PPA"); the Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008 
("HEART"); and the Worker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 ("WRERA"); and Plan 
provisions designed to comply with certain provisions of additional changes in federal law and 
guidance from the Internal Revenue Service under Internal Revenue Service Notice 2012-76 (the 
2012 Cumulative List) are effective as of the applicable effective dates set forth in the Adoption 
Agreement and Master Plan Document.  By adopting this Adoption Agreement, with its 
accompanying Master Plan Document, the Adopting Employer is adopting a plan document 
intended to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a), as updated by PPA, HEART, 
WRERA, and the 2012 Cumulative List with the applicable effective dates. 

(1) Complete this item (1) only if this is a new defined benefit plan which does not replace 
or restate an existing defined benefit plan.   

The effective date of this Plan is      . 
(insert effective date of this Adoption Agreement not earlier than January 1, 2013). 

(2) Complete this item (2) only if this Plan is being adopted to replace a non-GMEBS 
defined benefit plan.   

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Master Document or in this Adoption 
Agreement, the effective date of this restatement shall be the ____________________(insert 
effective date of this Adoption Agreement not earlier than January 1, 2013). This Plan 
is intended to replace and serve as an amendment and restatement of the Employer’s 
preexisting plan, which became effective on       (insert original effective date of 
preexisting plan). 

(3) Complete this item (3) only if this is an amendment and complete restatement of the 
Adopting Employer's existing GMEBS defined benefit plan.   

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Master Document or in this Adoption 
Agreement, the effective date of this restatement shall be May 11, 2023 (insert effective 
date of this Adoption Agreement not earlier than January 1, 2013).  

This Plan is adopted as an amendment and restatement of the Employer's preexisting GMEBS 
Adoption Agreement, which became effective on October 22, 2020 (insert effective date of 
most recent Adoption Agreement preceding this Adoption Agreement).   

The Employer's first Adoption Agreement became effective July 1, 2003 (insert effective 
date of Employer's first GMEBS Adoption Agreement).  The Employer's GMEBS Plan 
was originally effective May 1, 1987 (insert effective date of Employer's original GMEBS 

- Page 285 -Item #22.



 

– 5 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Plan).  (If the Employer's Plan was originally a non-GMEBS Plan, then the Employer's 
non-GMEBS Plan was originally effective       (if applicable, insert effective date of 
Employer's original non-GMEBS Plan).)  

8.  PLAN YEAR 

Plan Year means (check one): 

 Calendar Year 
 Employer Fiscal Year commencing  . 
 Other (must specify month and day commencing): May 1. 

9.  CLASSES OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES 

Only Employees of the Adopting Employer who meet the Master Plan's definition of 
"Employee" may be covered under the Adoption Agreement.  Eligible Employees shall not include 
non-governmental employees, independent contractors, leased employees, nonresident aliens, or 
any other ineligible individuals, and this Section 9 must not be completed in a manner that violates 
the "exclusive benefit rule" of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(2). 

A. Eligible Regular Employees 

Regular Employees include Employees, other than elected or appointed members of the Governing 
Authority or Municipal Legal Officers, who are regularly employed in the services of the Adopting 
Employer.  Subject to the other conditions of the Master Plan and the Adoption Agreement, the 
following Regular Employees are eligible to participate in the Plan (check one): 

 ALL - All Regular Employees, provided they satisfy the minimum hour and other 
requirements specified under "Eligibility Conditions" below. 

 ALL REGULAR EMPLOYEES EXCEPT for the following employees (must specify; 
specific positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):   
Any City Manager who agrees in his or her employment contract with the City not to 
participate in this Plan shall be ineligible to participate in this Plan with respect to such 
employment. In the event that a City Manager agrees in his or her employment 
contract with the City not to participate in this Plan, the City shall provide GMEBS 
with written notice of such contract provision(s) within 180 days after the City 
Manager becomes employed with the City in such position; provided, however, that 
notwithstanding any provision in this Adoption Agreement or the Master Plan to the 
contrary, the failure of the City to provide such written notice to GMEBS shall not 
make such a City Manager eligible to participate in this Plan (see Adoption Agreement 
pp. 7-8 concerning participation in the Plan by City Managers). 

B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority 

An Adopting Employer may elect to permit participation in the Plan by elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority and/or Municipal Legal Officers, provided they otherwise 
meet the Master Plan's definition of "Employee" and provided they satisfy any other requirements 
specified by the Adopting Employer.  Municipal Legal Officers to be covered must be specifically 

- Page 286 -Item #22.



 

– 6 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

identified by position.  Subject to the above conditions, the Employer hereby elects the following 
treatment for elected and appointed officials: 

(1) Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority (check one): 

 ARE NOT eligible to participate in the Plan. 

 ARE eligible to participate in the Plan. 

Please specify any limitations on eligibility to participate here (e.g., service on or after certain date, 
or special waiting period provision):  Each elected or appointed member of the Governing 
Authority who holds an office of the Employer on July 1, 2003, shall be qualified to 
participate in the Plan on such date. Each other elected or appointed member of the 
Governing Authority who holds an office subsequent to July 1, 2003 shall be qualified to 
participate in the Plan on the first day of the month immediately following or coinciding with 
the first date after July 1, 2003, that he or she occupies any elective office of the Governing 
Authority (see Adoption Agreement pp. 7-8 regarding participation in the Plan). In 
accordance with Section 4.03(b) of the Master Plan, an elected or appointed member of the 
Governing Authority who initially takes office or returns to office on or after January 1, 
2015, shall be qualified to participate in the Plan on the date he or she initially takes such 
office or returns to office. 
 

(2) Municipal Legal Officers (check one): 

 ARE NOT eligible to participate in the Plan. 

 ARE eligible to participate in the Plan.  The term "Municipal Legal Officer" shall include only 
the following positions (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):  . 

 
Please specify any limitations on eligibility to participate here (e.g., service on or after certain date) 
(must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program requirement of 
Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   . 
 

10.  ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS 

A. Hours Per Week (Regular Employees) 

The Adopting Employer may specify a minimum number of work hours per week which 
are required to be scheduled by Regular Employees in order for them to become and remain 
"Eligible Regular Employees" under the Plan.  It is the responsibility of the Adopting Employer 
to determine whether these requirements are and continue to be satisfied.  The Employer 
hereby elects the following minimum hour requirement for Regular Employees:  

 No minimum 
 20 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 30 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 Other: 35 hours/week (must not exceed 40 hours/week regularly scheduled) 

- Page 287 -Item #22.



 

– 7 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Exceptions: If a different minimum hour requirement applies to a particular class or classes of 
Regular Employees, please specify below the classes to whom the different requirement applies 
and indicate the minimum hour requirement applicable to them.  

Class(es) of Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named): Eligible Regular Employees employed 
on or before October 10, 1996, provided they are not Terminated and reemployed after such 
date. 

Minimum hour requirement applicable to excepted Regular Employees: 

 No minimum 
 20 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 30 hours/week (regularly scheduled) 
 Other: _________________ (must not exceed 40 hours/week regularly scheduled) 

B. Months Per Year (Regular Employees) 

The Adopting Employer may specify a minimum number of work months per year which 
are required to be scheduled by Regular Employees in order for them to become and remain 
"Eligible Employees" under the Plan. It is the responsibility of the Adopting Employer to 
determine whether these requirements are and continue to be satisfied.  The Employer hereby 
elects the following minimum requirement for Regular Employees: 

 No minimum 
 At least 5 months per year (regularly scheduled)  

 
Exceptions: If different months per year requirements apply to a particular class or classes of 
Regular Employees, the Employer must specify below the classes to whom the different 
requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable to them. 

Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named): _________________________________. 

The months to year requirement for excepted class(es) are: 

 No minimum 
 At least _______ months per year (regularly scheduled)  

 
11.  WAITING PERIOD 

Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.02(b) of the Master Plan, Eligible Regular Employees 
shall not have a waiting period before participating in the Plan.  Likewise, elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority and Municipal Legal Officers, if eligible to participate in the 
Plan, shall not have a waiting period before participating in the Plan. 

- Page 288 -Item #22.



 

– 8 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

12.  ESTABLISHING PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN 

Participation in the Plan is considered mandatory for all Eligible Employees who satisfy 
the eligibility conditions specified in the Adoption Agreement, except as provided in 
Section 4.03(e) of the Master Plan.  However, the Employer may specify below that participation 
is optional for certain classes of Eligible Employees, including Regular Employees, elected or 
appointed members of the Governing Authority, Municipal Legal Officers, City Managers, and/or 
Department Heads.  If participation is optional for an Eligible Employee, then in order to become 
a Participant, he must make a written election to participate within 120 days after employment, 
election or appointment to office, or if later, the date he first becomes eligible to participate in the 
Plan.  The election is irrevocable, and the failure to make the election within the 120 day time limit 
shall be deemed an irrevocable election not to participate in the Plan.   

Classes for whom participation is optional (check one): 

 None (Participation is mandatory for all Eligible Employees except as provided in 
Section 4.03(e) of the Master Plan). 

 Participation is optional for the following Eligible Employees (must specify - specific 
positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be named; all positions or 
classes specified must be Eligible Employees): If a former City Manager or other 
Employee has previously waived or declined participation in the Plan prior to July 
1, 2003, said City Manager or Employee shall not receive credit for any service 
with the City prior to July 1, 2003. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, 
since July 1, 2003, the City’s Plan has operated and will continue to operate as 
follows with respect to participation in the Plan by the City Manager and by 
elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority. The City Manager is 
required to participate in the Plan, provided he or she meets the eligibility 
requirements for participation that are applicable to other Regular Employees; 
however, a City Manager who affirmatively agrees in his or her employment 
contract with the City not to participate in this Plan is ineligible to participate in 
the Plan (see p. 5 relating to Eligible Regular Employees). Each elected or 
appointed member of the Governing Authority automatically participates in the 
Plan unless he or she irrevocable elects in writing not to participate in the Plan 
within 120 days following the date on which he or she first takes such office or 
returns to office, as applicable, and such election is submitted to the Pension 
Committee Secretary in the form and manner required by the City within said 
120 day period. 

13.  CREDITED SERVICE 

In addition to Current Credited Service the Adopting Employer may include as Credited 
Service the following types of service: 

A. Credited Past Service with Adopting Employer 

Credited Past Service means the number of years and complete months of Service with the 
Adopting Employer prior to the date an Eligible Employee becomes a Participant which are treated 
as credited service under the Plan. 

- Page 289 -Item #22.



 

– 9 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(1) Eligible Employees Employed on Original Effective Date of GMEBS Plan.  
With respect to Eligible Employees who are employed by the Adopting Employer on the original 
Effective Date of the Employer's GMEBS Plan, Service with the Adopting Employer prior to the 
date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant (including any Service prior to the Effective 
Date of the Plan) shall be treated as follows (check one):   

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service). 

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), except for Service rendered prior to 
____________________________ (insert date).  

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), except as follows (must specify other 
limitation in a manner that satisfies the definite written program requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

 No Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service). 

(2) Previously Employed, Returning to Service after Original Effective Date.  If 
an Eligible Employee is not employed on the original Effective Date of the Employer's GMEBS 
Plan, but he returns to Service with the Adopting Employer sometime after the Effective Date, his 
Service prior to the date he becomes a Participant (including any Service prior the Effective Date) 
shall be treated as follows (check one): 

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), subject to any limitations imposed above with 
respect to Eligible Employees employed on the Effective Date. 

 All Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service), provided that after his return to employment, 
the Eligible Employee performs Service equal to the period of the break in Service 
or one (1) year, whichever is less.  Any limitations imposed above with respect to 
Eligible Employees employed on the Effective Date shall also apply.   

 No Service prior to the date the Eligible Employee becomes a Participant shall be 
credited (as Credited Past Service). 

Other limitation(s) on Recognition of Credited Past Service (must specify in a manner that 
satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   
Notwithstanding any other provision, Credited Past Service shall not include any tenure of 
office as an elected or appointed member of the Governing Authority unless the Participant 
was serving as an elected or appointed member of the Governing Authority or Eligible 
Regular Employee on July 1, 2003. 
 

- Page 290 -Item #22.



 

– 10 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(3) Eligible Employees Initially Employed After Effective Date. If an Eligible 
Employee's initial employment date is after the original Effective Date of the Employer's GMEBS 
Plan, his Credited Past Service shall include only the number of years and complete months of 
Service from his initial employment date to the date he becomes a Participant in the Plan. 

(4) Newly Eligible Classes of Employees. If a previously ineligible class of 
Employees becomes eligible to participate in the Plan, the Employer must specify in an addendum 
to this Adoption Agreement whether and to what extent said Employees' prior service with the 
Employer shall be treated as Credited Past Service under the Plan. 

B. Prior Military Service 

Note:  This Section does not concern military service required to be credited under USERRA 
– See Section 3.02 of the Master Plan for rules on the crediting of USERRA Military Service. 

(1) Credit for Prior Military Service. 

The Adopting Employer may elect to treat military service rendered prior to a Participant's initial 
employment date or reemployment date as Credited Service under the Plan. Unless otherwise 
specified by the Employer under "Other Conditions" below, the term "Military Service" shall be 
as defined in the Master Plan.  Except as otherwise required by federal or state law or under "Other 
Conditions" below, Military Service shall not include service which is credited under any other 
local, state, or federal retirement or pension plan. 

Military Service credited under this Section shall not include any service which is otherwise 
required to be credited under the Plan by federal or state law.  Prior Military Service shall be treated 
as follows (check one):  

 Prior Military Service is not creditable under the Plan (if checked, skip to 
Section 13.C. – Prior Governmental Service). 

 Prior Military Service shall be counted as Credited Service for the following 
purposes (check one or more as applicable): 

 Computing amount of benefits payable. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for vesting. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for benefit eligibility. 

(2) Maximum Credit for Prior Military Service. 

Credit for Prior Military Service shall be limited to a maximum of _____ years (insert number). 

(3) Rate of Accrual for Prior Military Service. 

Credit for Prior Military Service shall accrue at the following rate (check one): 

 One month of military service credit for every _______ month(s) (insert number) 
of Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

- Page 291 -Item #22.



 

– 11 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 One year of military service credit for every _____ year(s) (insert number) of 
Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 All military service shall be creditable (subject to any caps imposed above) after 
the Participant has completed _______ years (insert number) of Credited Service 
with the Employer. 

 Other requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

(4) Payment for Prior Military Service Credit(check one): 

 Participants shall not be required to pay for military service credit. 

 Participants shall be required to pay for military service credit as follows: 

 The Participant must pay ____% of the actuarial cost of the service credit 
(as defined below). 

 The Participant must pay an amount equal to (must specify in a manner 
that satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

 
Other Conditions for Award of Prior Military Service Credit (must specify in a manner that 
satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

(5) Limitations on Service Credit Purchases.  Unless otherwise specified in an 
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, for purposes of this Section and Section 13.C. concerning 
prior governmental service credit, the term "actuarial cost of service credit" is defined as set forth 
in the Service Credit Purchase Addendum.  In the case of a service credit purchase, the Participant 
shall be required to comply with any rules and regulations established by the GMEBS Board of 
Trustees concerning said purchases. 

C. Prior Governmental Service 

Note: A Participant's prior service with other GMEBS employers shall be credited for 
purposes of satisfying the minimum service requirements for Vesting and eligibility for 
Retirement and pre-retirement death benefits as provided under Section 9.05 of the Master 
Plan, relating to portability service.  This Section 13(C) does not need to be completed in 
order for Participants to receive this portability service credit pursuant to Section 9.05 of the 
Master Plan. 

(1) Credit for Prior Governmental Service. 

The Adopting Employer may elect to treat governmental service rendered prior to a Participant's 
initial employment date or reemployment date as creditable service under the Plan.  Subject to any 
limitations imposed by law, the term "prior governmental service" shall be as defined by the 

- Page 292 -Item #22.



 

– 12 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Adopting Employer below.  The Employer elects to treat prior governmental service as follows 
(check one): 

 Prior governmental service is not creditable under the Plan (if checked, skip to 
Section 13.D. – Unused Sick/Vacation Leave). 

 Prior governmental service shall be counted as Credited Service for the following 
purposes under the Plan (check one or more as applicable): 

 Computing amount of benefits payable. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for vesting. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for benefit eligibility. 

(2) Definition of Prior Governmental Service. 

Prior governmental service shall be defined as follows: (must specify in a manner that satisfies 
the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): ___________. 
 
Unless otherwise specified above, prior governmental service shall include only full-time service 
(minimum hour requirement same as that applicable to Eligible Regular Employees). 

(3) Maximum Credit for Prior Governmental Service. 

Credit for prior governmental service shall be limited to a maximum of ________ years (insert 
number). 

(4) Rate of Accrual for Prior Governmental Service Credit. 

Credit for prior governmental service shall accrue at the following rate (check one): 

 One month of prior governmental service credit for every _____ month(s) (insert 
number) of Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 One year of prior governmental service credit for every _____ year(s) (insert 
number) of Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 All prior governmental service shall be creditable (subject to any caps imposed 
above) after the Participant has completed _____ years (insert number) of 
Credited Service with the Adopting Employer. 

 Other requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): ________. 
 

(5) Payment for Prior Governmental Service Credit. 

  Participants shall not be required to pay for governmental service credit. 

 Participants shall be required to pay for governmental service credit as follows: 

- Page 293 -Item #22.



 

– 13 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 The Participant must pay ____% of the actuarial cost of the service credit. 
 The Participant must pay an amount equal to (must specify in a manner 

that satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement 
of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): _________________________. 

Other Conditions for Award of Prior Governmental Service Credit (must specify in a manner 
that satisfies the definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) 
and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

D. Leave Conversion for Unused Paid Time Off (e.g., Sick, Vacation, or Personal Leave) 

(1) Credit for Unused Paid Time Off. 

Subject to the limitations in Section 3.01 of the Master Plan, an Adopting Employer may elect to 
treat accumulated days of unused paid time off for a terminated Participant, for which the 
Participant is not paid, as Credited Service.  The only type of leave permitted to be credited under 
this provision is leave from a paid time off plan which qualifies as a bona fide sick and vacation 
leave plan (which may include sick, vacation or personal leave) and which the Participant may 
take as paid leave without regard to whether the leave is due to illness or incapacity.  The Credited 
Service resulting from the conversion of unused paid time off must not be the only Credited Service 
applied toward the accrual of a normal retirement benefit under the Plan.  The Pension Committee 
shall be responsible to certify to GMEBS the total amount of unused paid time off that is creditable 
hereunder.  

Important Note:  Leave cannot be converted to Credited Service in lieu of receiving a cash 
payment.  If the Employer elects treating unused paid time off as Credited Service, the conversion 
to Credited Service will be automatic, and the Participant cannot request a cash payment for the 
unused paid time off.   

The Employer elects the following treatment of unused paid time off: 

 Unused paid time off shall not be treated as Credited Service (if checked, skip to 
Section 14 – Retirement Eligibility). 

 The following types of unused paid time off for which the Participant is not paid 
shall be treated as Credited Service under the Plan (check one or more as 
applicable): 

  Unused sick leave 
  Unused vacation leave 
  Unused personal leave  
  Other paid time off (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 

written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-
1(b)(1)(i)):   . 

- Page 294 -Item #22.



 

– 14 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(2) Minimum Service Requirement. 

In order to receive credit for unused paid time off, a Participant must meet the following 
requirement at termination (check one): 

 The Participant must be 100% vested in a normal retirement benefit. 
 The Participant must have at least _______ years (insert number) of Total 

Credited Service (not including leave otherwise creditable under this Section).  
 Other (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program 

requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): ________. 

 
(3) Use of Unused Paid Time Off Credit.  Unused paid time off for which the 

Participant is not paid shall count as Credited Service for the following purposes under the Plan 
(check one or more as applicable): 

 Computing amount of benefits payable. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for vesting. 
 Meeting minimum service requirements for benefit eligibility. 

(4) Maximum Credit for Unused Paid Time Off. 

Credit for unused paid time off for which the Participant is not paid shall be limited to a maximum 
of ____ months (insert number). 

(5) Computation of Unused Paid Time Off. 

Unless otherwise specified by the Adopting Employer under "Other Conditions" below, each 
twenty (20) days of creditable unused paid time off shall constitute one (1) complete month of  
Credited Service under the Plan.  Partial months shall not be credited. 

(6) Other Conditions (please specify, subject to limitations in Section 3.01 of 
Master Plan; must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

14.  RETIREMENT ELIGIBILITY 

A. Early Retirement Qualifications 

Early retirement qualifications are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age 55 (insert number) 

 Completion of 10 years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

Exceptions:  If different early retirement eligibility requirements apply to a particular class or 
classes of Eligible Employees, the Employer must specify below the classes to whom the different 
requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable to them.  

- Page 295 -Item #22.



 

– 15 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Eligible Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 
 
Early retirement qualifications for excepted class(es) are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

B. Normal Retirement Qualifications 

Note: Please complete this Section and also list "Alternative" Normal Retirement 
Qualifications, if any, in Section 14.C. 

(1) Regular Employees 

Normal retirement qualifications for Regular Employees are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age 65 (insert number) 

 Completion of 5 years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 
to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ______________________________________. 

Exceptions:  If different normal retirement qualifications apply to a particular class or classes of 
Regular Employees, the Employer must specify below the classes to whom the different 
requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable to them.  

Class(es) of Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ________________________________. 

Normal retirement qualifications for excepted class(es) are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 

- Page 296 -Item #22.



 

– 16 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 
to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ______________________________________. 

(2) Elected or Appointed Members of Governing Authority 

Complete this Section only if elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or 
Municipal Legal Officers are permitted to participate in the Plan. Normal retirement 
qualifications for this class are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age 65 (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 
to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ____________________ __________________. 

Exceptions:  If different normal retirement qualifications apply to particular elected or appointed 
members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers, the Employer must specify 
below to whom the different requirements apply and indicate below the requirements applicable 
to them.  

Particular elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers 
to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):  . 

Normal retirement qualifications for excepted elected or appointed members of the Governing 
Authority or Municipal Legal Officers are (check one or more as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number) 

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service without 
first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant meets minimum 
age and service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 62 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), subject 

- Page 297 -Item #22.



 

– 17 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-
retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This 
rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ___________________. 

C. Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications 

The Employer may elect to permit Participants to retire with unreduced benefits after they satisfy 
service and/or age requirements other than the regular normal retirement qualifications specified 
above.  The Employer hereby adopts the following alternative normal retirement qualifications: 

Alternative Normal Retirement Qualifications (check one or more, as applicable): 
 
(1)  Not applicable (the Adopting Employer does not offer alternative normal 

retirement benefits under the Plan). 

(2)  Alternative Minimum Age & Service Qualifications (if checked, please 
complete one or more items below, as applicable): 

 Attainment of age _________ (insert number)   

 Completion of _________ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if Participant 
meets minimum age and service requirements specified immediately above 
and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under 
applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan provisions concerning 
recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to account for the value of 
benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule shall apply to (check 
one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) of Participants (must 
specify - specific positions are permissible; specific individuals may not 
be named): _______________________ __________________________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

A Participant (check one):   is required   is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the above qualifications in order to qualify for 
this alternative normal retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 

- Page 298 -Item #22.



 

– 18 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 
 

(3)  Rule of _______ (insert number).  The Participant's combined Total 
Credited Service and age must equal or exceed this number.  Please complete 
additional items below:  

To qualify for this alternative normal retirement benefit, the Participant (check one 
or more items below, as applicable): 

 Must have attained at least age ______ (insert number) 

 Must not satisfy any minimum age requirement 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if the 
Participant meets the minimum age and service requirements specified 
immediately above and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is 
permitted under applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan 
provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to 
account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule 
shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ________________________________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

A Participant (check one):  is required   is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the Rule in order to qualify for this alternative 
normal retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

(4)  Alternative Minimum Service.  A Participant is eligible for an alternative 
normal retirement benefit if he has at least ________ years (insert number) of 
Total Credited Service, regardless of the Participant's age. 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if the 

- Page 299 -Item #22.



 

– 19 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Participant meets the minimum service requirement specified immediately 
above and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted 
under applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan provisions 
concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to account for 
the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule shall apply 
to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) of 
Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): ________________________________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

A Participant (check one):  is required   is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the qualifications for this alternative normal 
retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

(5)  Other Alternative Normal Retirement Benefit. 

Must specify qualifications (in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 
 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees permitted (i.e., a qualifying 
Participant may commence receiving retirement benefits while in service 
without first incurring a Bona Fide Separation from Service), if the 
Participant meets minimum age and service requirements specified 
immediately above and is at least age 62 (unless a lower safe-harbor age is 
permitted under applicable federal law), subject to applicable Plan 
provisions concerning recalculation and offset applied at re-retirement to 
account for the value of benefits received prior to re-retirement.  This rule 
shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  only the following class(es) 
of Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named): _____________. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

- Page 300 -Item #22.



 

– 20 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

A Participant (check one):   is required  is not required to be in the service of 
the Employer at the time he satisfies the qualifications for this alternative normal 
retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)): 
 . 
 

(6)  Other Alternative Normal Retirement Benefit for Public Safety 
Employees Only. 

Must specify qualifications (in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
Attainment of age 55 and completion of 20 years of Total Credited Service. 
 

 In-Service Distribution to Eligible Employees who are Public Safety 
Employees permitted  (i.e., a qualifying Participant may commence 
receiving retirement benefits while in service without first incurring a Bona 
Fide Separation from Service), if the Participant meets minimum age and 
service requirements specified immediately above and is at least age 50 
(unless a lower safe-harbor age is permitted under applicable federal law), 
subject to applicable Plan provisions concerning recalculation and offset 
applied at re-retirement to account for the value of benefits received prior 
to re-retirement.  This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Participants  
only the following class(es) of Participants (must specify - specific 
positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):____. 

This alternative normal retirement benefit is available to:  

 All public safety employee Participants who qualify. 

 Only the following public safety employee Participants (must specify - 
specific positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be 
named): Firefighters and Police Officers, as defined in Section 2.34 and 
2.51 of the Master Plan, respectively. 

A public safety employee Participant (check one):   is required  is not required 
to be in the service of the Employer at the time he satisfies the qualifications for 
this alternative normal retirement benefit. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

 Note:  "Public safety employees" are defined under the Internal Revenue Code for this 
purpose as employees of a State or political subdivision of a State who provide police 

- Page 301 -Item #22.



 

– 21 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

protection, firefighting services, or emergency medical services for any area within the 
jurisdiction of such State or political subdivision. 

 
D. Disability Benefit Qualifications 

Subject to the other terms and conditions of the Master Plan and except as otherwise provided in 
an Addendum to this Adoption Agreement, disability retirement qualifications are based upon 
Social Security Administration award criteria or as otherwise provided under Section 2.23 of the 
Master Plan.  The Disability Retirement benefit shall commence as of the Participant's Disability 
Retirement Date under Section 2.24 of the Master Plan. 

To qualify for a disability benefit, a Participant must have the following minimum number of years 
of Total Credited Service (check one): 

 Not applicable (the Adopting Employer does not offer disability retirement benefits 
under the Plan). 

 No minimum. 
 _______ years (insert number) of Total Credited Service. 

Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  __________________________. 

15.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMPUTATION 

A. Maximum Total Credited Service  

The number of years of Total Credited Service which may be used to calculate a benefit is (check 
one or all that apply): 

 not limited. 

 limited to _________ years for all Participants. 

 limited to ________ years for the following classes of Eligible Regular Employees: 

 All Eligible Regular Employees. 

 Only the following Eligible Regular Employees:   . 

 limited to _______ years as an elected or appointed member of the Governing 
Authority.  

 limited to _______ years as a Municipal Legal Officer. 

 Other (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written program 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely 
determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   . 

- Page 302 -Item #22.



 

– 22 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

B. Monthly Normal Retirement Benefit Amount 

(1) Regular Employee Formula 

The monthly normal retirement benefit for Eligible Regular Employees shall be 1/12 of (check 
and complete one or more as applicable): 

 (a) Flat Percentage Formula.  ______% (insert percentage) of Final 
Average Earnings multiplied by years of Total Credited Service as an 
Eligible Regular Employee. 

This formula applies to:   

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): 
 . 

 (b) Alternative Flat Percentage Formula. ______% (insert percentage) of 
Final Average Earnings multiplied by years of Total Credited Service as an 
Eligible Regular Employee.  This formula applies to the following 
Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):  . 

 (c) Split Final Average Earnings Formula. 1.5% (insert percentage) of 
Final Average Earnings up to the amount of Covered Compensation (see 
subsection (2) below for definition of Covered Compensation), plus 
2.0% (insert percentage) of Final Average Earnings in excess of said 
Covered Compensation, multiplied by years of Total Credited Service as an 
Eligible Regular Employee.  

This formula applies to:  

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): . 

 (d) Alternative Split Final Average Earnings Formula.  _____ % (insert 
percentage) of Final Average Earnings up to the amount of Covered 
Compensation (see subsection (2) below for definition of Covered 
Compensation), plus ______% (insert percentage) of Final Average 
Earnings in excess of said Covered Compensation, multiplied by years of 
Total Credited Service as an Eligible Regular Employee.   

This formula applies to:   

 All Participants.   
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

- Page 303 -Item #22.



 

– 23 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

[Repeat above subsections as necessary for each applicable benefit formula and Participant 
class covered under the Plan.] 

(2) Covered Compensation (complete only if Split Formula(s) is checked above): 

Covered Compensation is defined as (check one or more as applicable): 

 (a) A.I.M.E. Covered Compensation as defined in Section 2.18 of the Master 
Plan.  This definition of Covered Compensation shall apply to (check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

 (b) Dynamic Break Point Covered Compensation as defined in Section 2.19 
of the Master Plan.  This definition of Covered Compensation shall apply 
to (check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):   . 

 (c) Table Break Point Covered Compensation as defined in Section 2.20 of 
the Master Plan.  This definition of Covered Compensation shall apply to 
(check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following class(es) of Participants (must specify - specific 

positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be 
named):  . 

 (d) Covered Compensation shall mean a Participant's annual Earnings that do 
not exceed $_______________ (specify amount).  This definition shall 
apply to (check one): 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

(3) Final Average Earnings 

Unless otherwise specified in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, Final Average Earnings 
is defined as the monthly average of Earnings paid to a Participant by the Adopting Employer for 
the 60 (insert number not to exceed 60) consecutive months of Credited Service preceding the 
Participant's most recent Termination in which the Participant's Earnings were the highest, 
multiplied by 12.  Note:  GMEBS has prescribed forms for calculation of Final Average Earnings 
that must be used for this purpose. 

This definition of Final Average Earnings applies to: 

- Page 304 -Item #22.



 

– 24 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 All Participants who are Regular Employees. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions are permissible; 

specific individuals may not be named):  . 

[Repeat above subsection as necessary for each applicable definition and Participant class 
covered under the Plan.] 

(4) Formula for Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority 

The monthly normal retirement benefit for members of this class shall be as follows (check one):  

 Not applicable (elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal 
Legal Officers are not permitted to participate in the Plan). 

 $25.00 (insert dollar amount) per month for each year of Total Credited Service as an 
elected or appointed member of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officer or 
major fraction thereof (6 months and 1 day). 

This formula applies to: 

 All elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers 
eligible to participate. 

 Only the following elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal 
Legal Officers eligible to participate (must specify - specific positions are permissible; 
specific individuals may not be named):  . 

[Repeat above subsection as necessary for each applicable formula for classes of elected or 
appointed members covered under the Plan.] 

C. Monthly Early Retirement Benefit Amount 

Check and complete one or more as applicable:  

 (1) Standard Early Retirement Reduction Table. The monthly Early 
Retirement benefit shall be computed in the same manner as the monthly 
Normal Retirement benefit, but the benefit shall be reduced on an 
Actuarially Equivalent basis in accordance with Section 12.01 of the Master 
Plan to account for early commencement of benefits. This provision shall 
apply to: 

 All Participants. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

 (2) Alternative Early Retirement Reduction Table.  The monthly Early 
Retirement benefit shall be computed in the same manner as the monthly 
Normal Retirement benefit, but the benefit shall be reduced to account for 
early commencement of benefits based on the following table.  This table 
shall apply to: 

- Page 305 -Item #22.



 

– 25 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 All Participants. 
 Only the following Participants (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

Alternative Early Retirement Reduction Table 
 

Number of Years Before 
[Age ___(Insert Normal 

Retirement Age)] 
(check as applicable) 

 

Percentage of  
Normal Retirement Benefit* 

(complete as applicable) 

    0 1.000 
    1 0.___ 
    2 0.___ 
    3 0.___ 
    4 0.___ 
    5 0.___ 
    6 0.___ 
    7 0.___ 
    8 0.___ 
    9 0.___ 
  10 0.___ 
  11 0.___ 
  12 0.___ 
  13 0.___ 
  14 0.___ 
  15 0.___ 

 
*Interpolate for whole months 

D. Monthly Late Retirement Benefit Amount (check one): 

 (1) The monthly Late Retirement benefit shall be computed in the same manner 
as the Normal Retirement Benefit, based upon the Participant's Accrued 
Benefit as of his Late Retirement Date. 

 (2) The monthly Late Retirement benefit shall be the greater of:  (1) the 
monthly retirement benefit accrued as of the Participant's Normal 
Retirement Date, actuarially increased in accordance with the actuarial table 
contained in Section 12.05 of the Master Plan; or (2) the monthly retirement 
benefit accrued as of the Participant's Late Retirement Date, without further 
actuarial adjustment under Section 12.06 of the Master Plan. 

E. Monthly Disability Benefit Amount 

The amount of the monthly Disability Benefit shall be computed in the same manner as the Normal 
Retirement benefit, based upon the Participant's Accrued Benefit as of his Disability Retirement 
Date. 

- Page 306 -Item #22.



 

– 26 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

Minimum Disability Benefit.  The Adopting Employer may set a minimum Disability Benefit.  
The Employer elects the following minimum Disability benefit (check one): 

 Not applicable (the Adopting Employer does not offer disability retirement benefits 
under the Plan). 

 No minimum is established. 

 No less than (check one):   20%  10%  ____% (if other than 20% or 10% 
insert percentage amount) of the Participant's average monthly Earnings for the 
12 calendar month period (excluding any period of unpaid leave of absence) 
immediately preceding his Termination of Employment as a result of a Disability.  
(Unless otherwise specified in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, no 
minimum will apply to elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority 
or Municipal Legal Officers.) 

 No less than (check one):   66 2/3 %  ______% (if other than 66 2/3%, insert 
percentage amount) of the Participant's average monthly Earnings for the 
12 calendar month period (excluding any period of unpaid leave of absence) 
immediately preceding his Termination of Employment as a result of a Disability, 
less any monthly benefits paid from federal Social Security benefits as a result of 
disability as reported by the Employer.  (Unless otherwise specified in an 
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, no minimum will apply to elected or 
appointed members of the Governing Authority or Municipal Legal Officers.) 

Note:  The Adopting Employer is responsible for reporting to GMEBS any amounts to be 
used in an offset. 

F. Minimum/Maximum Benefit For Elected Officials 

In addition to any other limitations imposed by federal or state law, the Employer may impose a 
cap on the monthly benefit amount that may be received by elected or appointed members of the 
Governing Authority.  The Employer elects (check one): 

 Not applicable (elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority do not 
participate in the Plan). 

 No minimum or maximum applies. 

 Monthly benefit for Service as an elected or appointed member of the Governing 
Authority may not exceed 100% of the Participant's final salary as an elected or 
appointed member of the Governing Authority. 

 Other minimum or maximum (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

- Page 307 -Item #22.



 

– 27 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

16.  SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS FOLLOWING BONA FIDE 
SEPARATION OF SERVICE; COLA 

 
A. Re-Employment as Eligible Employee After Normal, Alternative Normal, or Early 

Retirement and Following Bona Fide Separation of Service (see Master Plan Section 
6.06(c) Regarding Re-Employment as an Ineligible Employee and Master Plan 
Section 6.06(e) and (f) Regarding Re-Employment After Disability Retirement) 

(1) Reemployment After Normal or Alternative Normal Retirement.  In the event 
that a Retired Participant 1) is reemployed with the Employer as an Eligible Employee (as defined 
in the Plan) after his Normal or Alternative Normal Retirement Date and after a Bona Fide 
Separation from Service, or 2) is reemployed with the Employer in an Ineligible Employee class, 
and subsequently again becomes an Eligible Employee (as defined in the Plan) due to the addition 
of such class to the Plan after his Normal or Alternative Normal Retirement Date, the following 
rule shall apply (check one): 

 (a) The Participant's benefit shall be suspended in accordance with 
Section 6.06(a)(1) of the Master Plan for as long as the Participant 
remains employed. 

 (b) The Participant may continue to receive his retirement benefit in 
accordance with Section 6.06(b) of the Master Plan.  This rule shall 
apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify (specific 
positions are permissible; specific individuals may not be 
named) - benefits of those Retired Participants not listed shall 
be suspended in accordance with Section 6.06(a) of the Master 
Plan if they return to work with the Employer):_____________. 

 
(2) Reemployment After Early Retirement.  In the event a Participant Retires with 

an Early Retirement benefit after a Bona Fide Separation from Service 1) is reemployed with the 
Employer as an Eligible Employee before his Normal Retirement Date; or 2) is reemployed with 
the Employer in an Ineligible Employee class, and subsequently again becomes an Eligible 
Employee (as defined in the Plan) before his Normal Retirement Date due to the addition of such 
class to the Plan, the following rule shall apply (check one or more as applicable): 

(a)  The Participant's Early Retirement benefit shall be suspended in 
accordance with Section 6.06(a)(1) of the Master Plan for as long as the 
Participant remains employed. 

This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants;  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify - specific positions 
are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ___________. 

(b)  The Participant's Early Retirement benefit shall be suspended in 
accordance with Section 6.06(a)(1) of the Master Plan.  However, the 
Participant may begin receiving benefits after he satisfies the qualifications 
for Normal Retirement or Alternative Normal Retirement, as applicable, 

- Page 308 -Item #22.



 

– 28 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

and after satisfying the minimum age parameters of Section 6.06(a)(3) of 
the Master Plan, in accordance with Section 6.06(b)(2)(B)(i) of the Master 
Plan. 

This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants;  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify - specific positions 
are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ___________. 

(c)  The Participant's Early Retirement benefit shall continue in 
accordance with Section 6.06(b)(2)(B)(ii) of the Master Plan.   

This rule shall apply to (check one):   all Retired Participants;  only the 
following classes of Retired Participants (must specify - specific positions 
are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): ___________. 

B. Cost Of Living Adjustment 

The Employer may elect to provide for an annual cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) in the amount 
of benefits being received by Retired Participants and Beneficiaries, which shall be calculated and 
paid in accordance with the terms of the Master Plan.  The Employer hereby elects the following 
(check one): 

 (1) No cost-of-living adjustment. 

 (2) Variable Annual cost-of-living adjustment not to exceed 3.0% (insert 
percentage). 

 (3) Fixed annual cost-of-living adjustment equal to ______% (insert 
percentage). 

The above cost-of-living adjustment shall apply with respect to the following Participants (and 
their Beneficiaries) (check one): 

 All Participants (and their Beneficiaries).  
 Participants (and their Beneficiaries) who terminate employment on 

or after June 1, 1999 (insert date). 
 Other (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 

program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and 
the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 
1.401-1(b)(1)(i)); specific positions are permissible; specific 
individuals may not be named):   . 

 
The Adjustment Date for the above cost-of-living adjustment shall be (if not specified, the 
Adjustment Date shall be January 1): _________________________________________________. 
 

- Page 309 -Item #22.



 

– 29 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

17.  TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BEFORE RETIREMENT; 
VESTING 

A. Eligible Regular Employees 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, a Participant who is an Eligible Regular 
Employee and whose employment is terminated for any reason other than death or retirement shall 
earn a vested right in his accrued retirement benefit in accordance with the following schedule 
(check one): 

 No vesting schedule (immediate vesting). 

 Cliff Vesting Schedule.  Benefits shall be 100% vested after the Participant has a 
minimum of 5 years (insert number not to exceed 10) of Total Credited Service.  
Benefits remain 0% vested until the Participant satisfies this minimum. 

 Graduated Vesting Schedule.  Benefits shall become vested in accordance with 
the following schedule (insert percentages):  

COMPLETED YEARS  
OF TOTAL CREDITED SERVICE 

 
VESTED PERCENTAGE 

1     % 
2     % 
3     % 
4     % 
5     % 
6     % 
7     % 
8     % 
9     % 

10     % 
 
Exceptions:  If a vesting schedule other than that specified above applies to a special class(es) of 
Regular Employees, the Employer must specify the different vesting schedule below and the 
class(es) to whom the different vesting schedule applies.  

Regular Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 
 
Vesting Schedule for excepted class (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite written 
program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable 
requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 
 
B. Elected or Appointed Members of the Governing Authority 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, a Participant who is an elected or appointed 
member of the Governing Authority or a Municipal Legal Officer shall earn a vested right in his 
accrued retirement benefit for Credited Service in such capacity in accordance with the following 
schedule (check one): 

- Page 310 -Item #22.



 

– 30 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 Not applicable (elected or appointed members of the Governing Authority are not 
permitted to participate in the Plan). 

 No vesting schedule (immediate vesting). 

 Other vesting schedule (must specify in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
Benefits shall be 100% Vested after the Participant has a minimum of 4 years 
of Total Credited Service. Benefits remain 0% Vested until the Participant 
satisfies this minimum. If the Participant holds office as an elected or 
appointed member of the Governing Authority or is employed as an Eligible 
Regular Employee on July 1, 2003, then Service with the City prior to July 1, 
2003, will be taken into account in determining whether the Participant has 
satisfied the 4-year Vesting requirement. Otherwise, service prior to July 1, 
2003, will not be taken into account. 

18.  PRE-RETIREMENT DEATH BENEFITS 

A. In-Service Death Benefit 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, the Employer hereby elects the following 
in-service death benefit, to be payable in the event that an eligible Participant's employment with 
the Employer is terminated by reason of the Participant's death prior to Retirement (check and 
complete one): 

(1)  Auto A Death Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the Participant's 
Pre-Retirement Beneficiary, equal to the decreased monthly retirement benefit that 
would have otherwise been payable to the Participant, had he elected a 100% joint 
and survivor benefit under Section 7.03 of the Master Plan.  In order to be eligible 
for this benefit, a Participant must meet the following requirements (check one): 

 The Participant must be vested in a normal retirement benefit. 

 The Participant must have ______ years (insert number) of Total Credited 
Service. 

 The Participant must be eligible for Early or Normal Retirement. 

 Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-
1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

(2)  Actuarial Reserve Death Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the 
Participant's Pre-Retirement Beneficiary, actuarially equivalent to the reserve 
required for the Participant's anticipated Normal Retirement benefit, provided the 
Participant meets the following eligibility conditions (check one): 

- Page 311 -Item #22.



 

– 31 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

 The Participant shall be eligible upon satisfying the eligibility requirements 
of Section 8.02(c) of the Master Plan. 

 The Participant must have _____ years (insert number) of Total Credited 
Service.  

 Other eligibility requirement (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-
1(a)(2) and the definitely determinable requirement of Treasury 
Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

Imputed Service.  For purposes of computing the actuarial reserve death benefit, 
the Participant's Total Credited Service shall include (check one): 

 Total Credited Service accrued prior to the date of the Participant's death. 

 Total Credited Service accrued prior to the date of the Participant's death, 
plus (check one):   one-half (½)   ___________ (insert other fraction) 
of the Service between such date of death and what would otherwise have 
been the Participant's Normal Retirement Date.  (See Master Plan 
Section 8.02(b) regarding 10-year cap on additional Credited Service.) 

Minimum In-Service Death Benefit for Vested Employees Equal to Terminated Vested Death 
Benefit.  Unless otherwise specified under "Exceptions" below, if a Participant's employment is 
terminated by reason of the Participant's death prior to Retirement, and if as of the date of death 
the Participant is vested but he does not qualify for the in-service death benefit, then the Auto A 
Death Benefit will be payable, provided the Auto A Death Benefit is made available to terminated 
vested employees under the Adoption Agreement (see "Terminated Vested Death Benefit" below). 

(3) Exceptions:  If an in-service death benefit other than that specified above applies 
to one or more classes of Participants, the Employer must specify below the death benefit payable, 
the class(es) to whom the different death benefit applies, and the eligibility conditions for said 
death benefit. 

Alternative Death Benefit (must specify formula that satisfies the definite written program 
and definitely determinable requirements of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401-1(a)(2) 
and 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate limits applicable to governmental plans under Code 
Sections 401(a)(17) and 415):  . 

Participants to whom alternative death benefit applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

Eligibility conditions for alternative death benefit (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):   . 

- Page 312 -Item #22.



 

– 32 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

B. Terminated Vested Death Benefit 

(1) Complete this Section only if the Employer offers a terminated vested death 
benefit.  The Employer may elect to provide a terminated vested death benefit, to be payable in 
the event that a Participant who is vested dies after termination of employment but before 
Retirement benefits commence.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Plan, the 
Employer hereby elects the following terminated vested death benefit (check one): 

 Auto A Death Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the Participant's 
Pre-Retirement Beneficiary, equal to the decreased monthly retirement benefit that 
would have otherwise been payable to the Participant had he elected a 100% joint 
and survivor benefit under Section 7.03 of the Master Plan. 

 Accrued Retirement Benefit.  A monthly benefit payable to the Participant's 
Pre-Retirement Beneficiary which shall be actuarially equivalent to the 
Participant's Accrued Normal Retirement Benefit determined as of the date of 
death.  

(2) Exceptions:  If a terminated vested death benefit other than that specified above 
applies to one or more classes of Participants, the Employer must specify below the death benefit 
payable, the class(es) to whom the different death benefit applies, and the eligibility conditions for 
said death benefit. 

Alternative Death Benefit (must specify formula that satisfies the definite written program 
and definitely determinable requirements of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.401-1(a)(2) 
and 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate limits applicable to governmental plans under Code 
Sections 401(a)(17) and 415):  . 

Participants to whom alternative death benefit applies (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

Eligibility conditions for alternative death benefit (must specify in a manner that satisfies the 
definite written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  . 

19.  EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 

(1) Employee contributions (check one): 

 Are not required. 

 Are required in the amount of _____% (insert percentage) of Earnings for all 
Participants. 

 Are required in the amount of _____% (insert percentage) of Earnings for  
Participants in the following classes (must specify - specific positions are 
permissible; specific individuals may not be named):  . 

- Page 313 -Item #22.



 

– 33 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

[Repeat above subsection as necessary if more than one contribution rate applies.]  

(2) Pre-Tax Treatment of Employee Contributions.  If Employee Contributions are 
required in Subsection (1) above, an Adopting Employer may elect to "pick up" Employee 
Contributions to the Plan in accordance with IRC Section 414(h).  In such case, Employee 
Contributions shall be made on a pre-tax rather than a post-tax basis, provided the requirements of 
IRC Section 414(h) are met.  If the Employer elects to pick up Employee Contributions, it is the 
Employer's responsibility to ensure that Employee Contributions are paid and reported in 
accordance with IRC Section 414(h).  The Adopting Employer must not report picked up 
contributions as wages subject to federal income tax withholding. 

The Employer hereby elects (check one):  

 To pick up Employee Contributions.  By electing to pick up Employee 
Contributions, the Adopting Employer specifies that the contributions, although 
designated as Employee Contributions, are being paid by the Employer in lieu of 
Employee Contributions.  The Adopting Employer confirms that the executor of 
this Adoption Agreement is duly authorized to take this action as required to pick 
up contributions.  This pick-up of contributions applies prospectively, and it is 
evidenced by this contemporaneous written document.  On and after the date of the 
pick-up of contributions, a Participant does not have a cash or deferred election 
right (within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(k)-1(a)(3)) with 
respect to the designated Employee Contributions, which includes not having the 
option of receiving the amounts directly instead of having them paid to the Plan. 

 Not to pick up Employee Contributions.  

(3) Interest on Employee Contributions.  The Adopting Employer may elect to pay 
interest on any refund of Employee Contributions. 

 Interest shall not be paid. 

 Interest shall be paid on a refund of Employee Contributions at a rate established 
by GMEBS from time to time. 

 Other rate of interest (must specify rate in a manner that satisfies the definite 
written program requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(a)(2) and the 
definitely determinable requirement of Treasury Regulation 1.401-1(b)(1)(i)):  
 . 

20.  MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION 
AGREEMENT 

If an Adopting Employer desires to amend any of its elections contained in this Adoption 
Agreement (or any Addendum), the Governing Authority by official action must adopt an 
amendment of the Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum) or a new Adoption Agreement (or 
Addendum) must be adopted and forwarded to the Board for approval.  The amendment of the 

- Page 314 -Item #22.



 

– 34 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

new Adoption Agreement (or Addendum) is not effective until approved by the Board and other 
procedures required by the Plan have been implemented. 

The Administrator will timely inform the Adopting Employer of any amendments made by the 
Board to the Plan. 

21.  TERMINATION OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

This Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) may be terminated only in accordance with the 
Plan.  The Administrator will inform the Adopting Employer in the event the Board should decide 
to discontinue this volume submitter program. 

22.  EMPLOYER ADOPTION AND AUTHORIZATION FOR 
AMENDMENTS 

Adoption.  The Adopting Employer hereby adopts the terms of the Adoption Agreement and any 
Addendum, which is attached hereto and made a part of this ordinance.  The Adoption Agreement 
(and, if applicable, the Addendum) sets forth the Employees to be covered by the Plan, the benefits 
to be provided by the Adopting Employer under the Plan, and any conditions imposed by the 
Adopting Employer with respect to, but not inconsistent with, the Plan.  The Adopting Employer 
reserves the right to amend its elections under the Adoption Agreement and any Addendum, so 
long as the amendment is not inconsistent with the Plan or the Internal Revenue Code or other 
applicable law and is approved by the Board of Trustees of GMEBS.  The Adopting Employer 
acknowledges that it may not be able to rely on the volume submitter advisory letter if it makes 
certain elections under the Adoption Agreement or the Addendum. 

The Adopting Employer hereby agrees to abide by the Master Plan, Trust Agreement, and rules 
and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees of GMEBS, as each may be amended from time 
to time, in all matters pertaining to the operation and administration of the Plan.  It is intended that 
the Act creating the Board of Trustees of GMEBS, this Plan, and the rules and regulations of the 
Board are to be construed in harmony with each other.  In the event of a conflict between the 
provisions of any of the foregoing, they shall govern in the following order: 

(1) The Act creating the Board of Trustees of The Georgia Municipal Employees' 
Benefit System, O.C.G.A. Section 47-5-1 et seq. (a copy of which is included in 
the Appendix to the Master Defined Benefit Plan Document) and any other 
applicable provisions of O.C.G.A. Title 47; 

(2) The Master Defined Benefit Plan Document and Trust Agreement; 

(3) This Ordinance and Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum); and 

(4) The rules and regulations of the Board. 

In the event that any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Plan shall be declared 
or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall in no manner affect the previously 
existing provisions or the other section or sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases of 

- Page 315 -Item #22.



 

– 35 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

this Plan, which shall remain in full force and effect, as if the section, subsection, sentence, clause 
or phrase so declared or adjudicated invalid or unconstitutional were not originally a part hereof.  
The Governing Authority hereby declares that it would have passed the remaining parts of this 
Plan or retained the previously existing provisions if it had known that such part or parts hereof 
would be declared or adjudicated invalid or unconstitutional. 

This Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) may only be used in conjunction with Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System Master Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Document 
approved by the Internal Revenue Service under advisory letter J501718a dated March 30, 2018.  
The Adopting Employer understands that failure to properly complete this Adoption Agreement 
(or any Addendum), or to operate and maintain the Plan and Trust in accordance with the terms of 
the completed Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum), Master Plan Document and Trust, may 
result in disqualification of the Adopting Employer's Plan under the Internal Revenue Code.  
Inquiries regarding the adoption of the Plan, the meaning of Plan provisions, or the effect of the 
IRS advisory letter should be directed to the Administrator.  The Administrator is Georgia 
Municipal Employees Benefit System, with its primary business offices located at:  201 Pryor 
Street, SW, Atlanta, Georgia, 30303.  The business telephone number is:  (404) 688-0472.  The 
primary person to contact is:  GMEBS Legal Counsel.   

Authorization for Amendments.  Effective on and after February 17, 2005, the Adopting 
Employer hereby authorizes the volume submitter practitioner who sponsors the Plan on behalf of 
GMEBS to prepare amendments to the Plan, for approval by the Board, on its behalf as provided 
under Revenue Procedure 2005-16, as superseded by Revenue Procedure 2015-36, Revenue 
Procedure 2011-49, and Announcement 2005-37.  Effective January 1, 2013, Georgia Municipal 
Association, Inc., serves as the volume submitter practitioner for the Plan.  Employer notice and 
signature requirements were met for the Adopting Employer before the effective date of 
February 17, 2005.  The Adopting Employer understands that the implementing amendment reads 
as follows: 

On and after February 17, 2005, the Board delegates to the Practitioner the 
authority to advise and prepare amendments to the Plan, for approval by the Board, 
on behalf of all Adopting Employers, including those Adopting Employers who 
have adopted the Plan prior to the January 1, 2013, restatement of the Plan, for 
changes in the Code, the regulations thereunder, revenue rulings, other statements 
published by Internal Revenue Service, including model, sample, or other required 
good faith amendments (but only if their adoption will not cause such Plan to be 
individually designed), and for corrections of prior approved plans.  These 
amendments shall be applied to all Adopting Employers.  Employer notice and 
signature requirements have been met for all Adopting Employers before the 
effective date of February 17, 2005.  In any event, any amendment prepared by the 
Practitioner and approved by the Board will be provided by the Administrator to 
Adopting Employers. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, no amendment to the Plan shall 
be prepared on behalf of any Adopting Employer as of either:  

• the date the Internal Revenue Service requires the Adopting 
Employer to file Form 5300 as an individually designed plan as a 

- Page 316 -Item #22.



 

– 36 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

result of an amendment by the Adopting Employer to incorporate a 
type of Plan not allowable in a volume submitter plan as described 
in Revenue Procedure 2015-36; or  

• as of the date the Plan is otherwise considered an individually 
designed plan due to the nature and extent of the amendments. 

If the Adopting Employer is required to obtain a determination letter for any 
reason in order to maintain reliance on the advisory letter, the Practitioner's 
authority to amend the Plan on behalf of the Adopting Employer is conditioned on 
the Plan receiving a favorable determination letter. 

The Adopting Employer further understands that, if it does not give its authorization 
hereunder or, in the alternative, adopt another pre-approved plan, its Plan will become an 
individually designed plan and will not be able to rely on the volume submitter advisory letter. 

- Page 317 -Item #22.



 

– 37 – 
 

City of Tybee Island (Amended Effective May 11, 2023) 

AN ORDINANCE (continued from page 1) 

Section 2.  Except as otherwise specifically required by law or by the terms of the Master 
Plan or Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum), the rights and obligations under the Plan with 
respect to persons whose employment with the City was terminated or who vacated his office with 
the City for any reason whatsoever prior to the effective date of this Ordinance are fixed and shall 
be governed by such Plan, if any, as it existed and was in effect at the time of such termination. 

Section 3.  The effective date of this Ordinance shall be May 11, 2023. 

Section 4.  All Ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 
repealed. 

Approved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia this _______ 
day of _____________________, 20_____. 

 
Attest:       CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 
 
    
City Clerk Mayor 
 
(SEAL) 
 
Approved: 
 
__________________________ 
City Attorney 
 

The terms of the foregoing Adoption Agreement are approved by the Board of Trustees of 
Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Trustees of Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit 
System has caused its Seal and the signatures of its duly authorized officers to be affixed this 
______ day of __________________________, 20____. 

 Board of Trustees 
 Georgia Municipal Employees 
 Benefit System 
 
(SEAL) 
   

Secretary 
 

 

- Page 318 -Item #22.



File Attachments for Item:

24. PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES-4/17/2023

- Page 319 -Item #24.



 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION                                             CITY MANAGER  
Julie A. Livingston                                        Shawn Gillen 
Robert J. Matkowski 
Elaine McGruder 
S. Michelle Nooney                                                                                                            COMMUNITY DEVELOPMEN DIRECTOR 
Whitley Reynolds              George Shaw  
Marie Rodriguez          
                                         CITY ATTORNEY    CITY ATTORNEY   

                                         Edward M. Hughes
                                                                                                                      

 
Planning Commission Meeting 

MINUTES 
April 17, 2023 

 
Chair Whitley Reynolds called the April 17, 2023, Tybee Island Planning Commission meeting to 
order. Commissioners present were Marie Rodriguez, Elaine McGruder, Julie Livingston, 
Robert Matkowski and Michelle Nooney. 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
Chair Whitley Reynolds asked for consideration of the March 20, 2023, meeting minutes. Elaine 
McGruder made a motion to approve. Marie Rodriguez seconded. The vote was unanimous. 
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 
Chair Whitley Reynolds asked if there were any Disclosures or Recusals.  
 
Old Business: 
Chair Whitley Reynolds asked if there was any old business. There were none. 
 
New Business: 
Site Plan: requesting to add character statues in front of Sugar Shack -301 1st St. -40003 15001 -

Zone C-2 -Liran Portal. 

Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve. Robert Matkowski seconded. The vote to 

deny was unanimous. 

 

Site Plan: requesting to add seating and increase parking – 1115 & 1109 E US Hwy 80 -40026 

03021&40026 03022 -Zone C-2 -Chris Smith. 

Marie Rodriguez made a motion to approve. Elaine McGruder seconded. The vote to 

approve was unanimous. 

 

Site Plan: requesting to add 3 townhomes while keeping existing structure -104 17th St. -40008 18001 -

Zone C-1 -Walt Freeman. 

Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve. Marie Rodriguez seconded. Vote to approve 

was unanimous.  

 

Site Plan: requesting to change use of property from Restaurant to Restaurant/Office -1601 Butler 

Ave. -40008 18004 -Zone C-1 -Walt Freeman. 

Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve. Marie Rodriguez seconded. The vote to 

approve was unanimous. 

 

- Page 320 -Item #24.



 

 

Text amendment #13: Sec. ? -To allow for property owners holding a building permit at the time of 

the moratorium to apply for an STR permit. 

Dee Matkowski, 20 Pulaski St. spoke against text amendment. Dawn Shay, 4 Billfish Ln. spoke against 

text amendment. 

Robert Matkowski made a motion to approve. Elaine McGruder seconded. The vote to 

deny was unanimous. 

 

Text amendment #14: Sec. ?-To allow property owners holding a building permit at the time of the 

moratorium to apply for an STR permit after a public hearings. 

Dee Matkowski, 20 Pulaski St. spoke against text amendment. Dawn Shay, 4 Billfish Ln. spoke against 

text amendment. 

Julie Livingston made a motion to approve. Robert Matkowski seconded. The vote to deny 

was unanimous. 

 

Text amendment #15A:  Sec. ?-To allow property owners holding a building permit at the time of 

the moratorium to apply for an STR permit. 

Dee Matkowski, 20 Pulaski St. spoke against text amendment. Dawn Shay, 4 Billfish Ln. spoke against 

text amendment. 

Robert Matkowski made a motion to approve. Elaine McGruder seconded. The vote to 

deny was unanimous. 

 

Text amendment #15B:  Sec. ?-To allow property owners holding a building permit at the time of 

the moratorium to apply for an STR permit. 

Nick Sears, 1304 Venetian Dr. spoke against text amendment. Dee Matkowski, 20 Pulaski St. spoke 

against text amendment. Dawn Shay, 4 Billfish Ln. spoke against text amendment. 

Robert Matkowski made a motion to approve. Julie Livingston seconded. The vote to deny 

was four to two in favor of the denial. Michelle Nooney voted against the denial. 

 

Text amendment #16: Sec. ?-To allow property owners who acquired property at the time of the 

moratorium to apply for an STR permit after a public hearings. 

Dee Matkowski, 20 Pulaski St. spoke against text amendment. Dawn Shay, 4 Billfish Ln. spoke against 

text amendment. 

Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve. Julie Livingston seconded. The vote to deny 

was unanimous. 

 

Text amendment #17: Sec. ?-To allow for persons who acquired property before or during the 

moratorium to apply for an STR permit. 

Dee Matkowski, 20 Pulaski St. spoke against text amendment. Dawn Shay, 4 Billfish Ln. spoke against 

text amendment. 

Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve. Robert Matkowski seconded. The vote to 

deny was unanimous.  

 
 
Adjournment:  
Lisa L. Schaaf 

- Page 321 -Item #24.


	Top
	Item #1.	UGA Announcement of Tybee Natural Infrastructure Master Plan:  FOR INFORMATION ONLY
	[Untitled]

	Item #2.	Kathleen Holliday, TIMA,  Oyster Recycling Program on Tybee
	Item #3.	Pat Leiby and Sarah Jones:  Black History Trail
	Agenda request for city council

	Item #4.	Site Plan Approval 1601 Butler Avenue, Add brick fence around property, Walt Freeman petitioner
	Site Plan 1601 Butler

	Item #5.	Site Plan Approval, 104 17th Street, Addition of three (3) Townhomes to Existing Property/Structure, Walt Freeman petitioner
	3.SITE PLAN-104 17TH ST

	Item #6.	Site Plan Approval, 115 and 1109 East US Highway 80, Increase Parking via adjacent lot, Chris Smith, Zunzibar
	Site Plan 1115 & 1109 E HWY 80

	Item #7.	Site Plan Approval, 301 1st Street, Adding character statues in front of ice cream and golf cart/bicycle rental shop.  Liran Portal Petitioner
	Site Plan 301 First St

	Item #8.	First Reading, 2023-13, Text Amendment, Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit at time of adoption of Moratorium
	STR Ordinance Text Amendment #13

	Item #9.	First Reading 2023-14, Ability to apply for an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit at the time of moratorium after public hearings
	STR Ordinance Text Amendment #14

	Item #10.	First Reading, 2023-15A,  Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit for new construction or extensive renovations at the time of adoption of the moratorium without public hearings
	STR Ordinance Text Amendment #15A

	Item #11.	First Reading, 2023-15B, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a building permit for new construction at the time of the moratorium
	STR Ordinance Text Amendment #15B

	Item #12.	First Reading 2023-16, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own property or have a building permit with public hearing
	STR Ordinance Text Amendment #16

	Item #13.	First Reading, 2023-17, Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants who did not own property or have a building permit before moratorium without public hearings
	STR Ordinance Text Amendment #15

	Item #14.	2023-772 Resilience Plan Consultant - Recommend SLR International Corporation
	2023-772 Resilience Plan Consultant Scoring Matrix

	Item #15.	Agenda Request: Entertainment License: Mi Vida
	Agenda Request-Mi Vida - Entertainment License.docx

	appIS88c9c59a69ba48e0932c976b93a8bf0d
	Item #17.	Budget Amendment:  Purchase additional safety and protective gear for all police officer and fire/ems personnel.  $315,000.00
	Budget Amendment

	Item #18.	Resolution, 2023-07, Public Safety Emergencies relating to Events
	Resolution 2023-07CleanVersion

	Item #19.	Second Reading, 2023-09, Section 3-090. Elevator Requirements
	2023-9   Section 3-090 -  Elevator Requirements 4-18-2023

	Item #20.	Second Reading:  2023-10, Sec 2-010, Change of Setback Definition to Allow for Elevators
	2023-10  Setback - Elevator Requirements 4-18-2023

	Item #21.	Second Reading:  2023-21, Sec 58-179, Fees
	04.18.23 Massage Ordinance CLEAN (4857-2998-9470.1) 2023-21

	Item #22.	Second Reading:  2023-22, GMEBS-R:  City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Amendment Ordinance with Adoption
	Tybee Cover Letter 4 19 2023
	Tybee Island Addendum 4 19 2023
	Tybee Island AA 4 19 2023

	Item #23.	Jay Burke, Performance/Status of City Manager
	Item #24.	PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES-4/17/2023
	20230417_PC_MINUTES

	Bottom

